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2015 Annual Results 
Cost reduction initiatives lower operating costs. Further step down in costs expected from 
contractor collaboration model in FY2016 
 

Highlights 

 Company responded to a deteriorating iron ore market through a new contracting relationship which 
on completion of ramp up will deliver a breakeven price of US$50DMT CFR* China; recent falls in 
AUD:USD further improves this position 

 July 2015 capital raising of A$87M (gross, including A$53M of new cash) significantly strengthens 
balance sheet and improves working capital position 

 Operations were suspended and then resumed at all three Nth Pilbara mines. On track to achieve 
targeted production of 14-15Mtpa by December 2015 

Annual Results 

 Record exports of 12.2Mt (10.9Mt FY14) 

 Revenue down by 35% to A$718.5M, following significant fall in the USD iron ore price over the 
period 

 Average FY15 realised price per tonne received of A$59.96/ WMT CFR (A$100.51/ WMT CFR FY14) 

 Underlying* EBITDA loss of A$51.5M 

 All-in cash costs* down to A$64.23/WMT (A$76.80/WMT FY14) generating a A$150M of annualised 
cost reductions 

 Previously advised non-cash asset impairment and write downs of A$1,077.1M together with 
restructure and suspension costs of A$52.8M contribute to statutory loss of A$1,377.8M 

 Cash on hand of A$73M (pre capital raising), after investing A$81M predominately on completing the 
Mt Webber stage 2 project in the December half 

 Capital investment to support production of 14-15Mtpa now complete 
 

Investors can listen to the analysts‟ briefing call, which starts at 10.30 AM (AEDT) (8.30 WST) today.  
Click on the link http://www.brrmedia.com/event/140075 
 

Atlas Iron Limited (ASX: AGO or the Company) has today released it‟s FY15 annual results.  The results reflect the 
impact of a significant and sustained fall in the iron ore price which delivered a reduction in revenue of 35% to 
A$718.5M. 

Whilst the Company was able to achieve a significant cost reduction of A$150 million during the year, the savings 
generated could not match the rate of decline experienced in the iron ore price. The FY15 all-in cash cost* per 
tonne was reduced by 16% to A$64.23/WMT (FY14: A$76.80/WMT). 

After allowing for non-cash asset impairments, inventory write-downs, de-recognition of deferred tax assets 
(A$1,077.1M) and restructuring and suspension costs (A$52.8M), the Company recorded a statutory loss of 
A$1,377.8M. 

 
* Please refer to Glossary for definitions 

http://www.brrmedia.com/event/140075
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Cash on hand at 30 June 2015 was A$73.3M (pre capital raising) after investing A$81M (predominately at Mt 
Webber), payment of dividends in August 2014 (A$16.2M), repayment of debt facilities (A$17.7M) and payment of 
interest (A$30.6M). The capital raising of A$87M (gross, including A$53M of new cash) completed in July 2015 has 
strengthened the Company‟s balance sheet and improved its working capital position.  

During a year when the iron ore price experienced a significant and sustained fall, the Company responded by 
implementing initiatives to significantly reduce its cost base, but was ultimately forced to suspend mining operations 
in April 2015 and conduct a whole of business review. Atlas then implemented an operating strategy based around 
a contractor collaboration model (refer ASX announcement 15

 
May 2015).  

As part of this strategy, Atlas entered into new commercial relationships with key contractors and, with the support 
of the Western Australian Government, resolved to target a substantially lower cost base (in lower iron ore price 
environments) and thereby contribute to a more sustainable business.  Atlas now aims to be break even at a 
benchmark 62%Fe price of US$50/DMT CFR* (based on the assumptions set out in the Glossary below, which 
include an AUD:USD exchange rate of 0.7850).  

In addition, as part of the contractor collaboration model Atlas moved to reduce exposure to volatility in iron ore 
pricing by utilising hedging products, fixed price sales contracts and shorter dated pricing periods on a three month 
look forward basis. This will reduce Atlas‟ exposure to iron ore price risk. 

The Company has since re-deployed all mining fleet, recommissioned all fixed plant and resumed shipping of ore 
from all three of its mine sites.  

On the back of the revised operating strategy the Company launched a capital raising which culminated in A$87M 
being raised in July 2015.  

Atlas Managing Director, David Flanagan said the organisation has demonstrated its strong capability to be 
resilient and innovative in extremely challenging market conditions. 

“Yes, the changing iron ore market has meant we have had to take large asset write downs and that hurts. While 
Atlas can‟t influence the iron ore price we have moved the needle on our cost base and are now seeing the results 
of the contractor collaboration model. The combined efforts of our people, contractors, WA Government and of 
course with the support of our shareholders means we are not just stronger than we were, we are much stronger 
than many of our competitors and we plan to keep it that way.”  

Further details regarding Atlas‟ annual results can be found in the accounts and presentation lodged with ASX 
today. 

 

Media Enquiries: 

Read Corporate  +61 8 9388 1474 

Paul Armstrong  +61 421 619 084  

 

  

* Please refer to Glossary for definitions 
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Glossary 
Break Even Price: The key assumptions underlying the estimated Break Even Prices above,  are summarised 

below: 

 AUD/USD $0.7850. 

 "Break Even Price Estimate" based on nominal production run-rate and Full Cash Costs at 15Mtpa (i.e. 

320kt/mth, 480kt/mth and 450kt/mth from Abydos, Wodgina and Mt Webber respectively)  

 Sea freight of US$6.25/WMT. 

 No Contractor Collaboration Deed cost assumed for Mt Webber, however estimated 10-12% mining cost 

savings (via the BGC Agreement).  

 Private and State Royalties of 10.5% at Wodgina and 8.0% at Mt Webber and Abydos. 

 Interest of 8.75% p.a. applied to secured debt of US$269M (i.e. A$343M at AUD/USD $0.785). 

 Payment of margin to collaborating contractors (see ASX Announcement dated 15 May 2015) included 

for Wodgina and Abydos (Contractor Collaboration Margin). 

 Moisture of 5.7%, 3.8% and 4.5% at Wodgina, Abydos and Mt Webber respectively (i.e. average 

expected moisture over next 24 months). 

 Average assumed lump premium of A$10/DMT with Lump contributing 66% and 50% of Abydos and Mt 

Webber product respectively. No Lump product assumed to be produced at Wodgina. 

 Initial Lump production at Mt Webber from November 2015, growing during December 2015 to stated 

50% of product tonnes. 

 Average „Other‟ contractual penalties of US$0.50/DMT assumed to provide for impurities not specified in 

contracts. 

 Quality / Value in Use discount of 12.5%, relating to discounts for ore impurities. 

 Average assumed grade of Atlas ore of 57.0% Fe, compared with benchmark grade of 62.0% Fe. 

 WA State Government Royalty Relief not included in Break Even Price analysis. 

 

The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas‟ directors provides useful information to 
assess the underlying financial performance of the Company.  These are non-IFRS measures and are unaudited.  

 

All-in cash costs’ includes C1 Cash Costs, royalties, freight, corporate and administration, expensed exploration 
and evaluation but excludes interest expense, capital expenditure, one-off restructuring costs, suspension and 
ramp up costs of operating mine sites, Contractor Collaboration Margin and other non-cash expenses. C1 Cash 
Costs are inclusive of contractors and Atlas‟ costs including any uplift in rates paid to collaborating contractors (see 
ASX Announcement dated 15 May 2015). All-in cash costs are derived from unaudited management accounts. 
This non-IFRS measure is unaudited.  

 

Full cash costs includes All-in cash costs‟, capitalised exploration and evaluation, interest expense and sustaining 
capital expenditure, but excludes depreciation and amortisation, one-off restructuring costs, suspension and ramp 
up costs of operating mine sites, Contractor Collaboration Margin and other non-cash expenses. Full cash costs 
are derived from unaudited management accounts. This non-IFRS measure is unaudited.  

 

WMT:  Wet Metric Tonnes 

 
 



 

 

ATLAS IRON LIMITED 
 

30 JUNE 2015 APPENDIX 4E 
RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 

 
 
This Preliminary Final Report for Atlas Iron Limited and its subsidiaries (“Atlas Iron”) (ASX Code: AGO) is 
provided to ASX under ASX Listing Rule 4.3A 
 
Results for announcement to the market 
 

  % Change  Amount 

Total iron ore shipments Up 12% To 12.2wmt 

Sales revenue Down 35% To $718 million 

Gross loss  From a profit last year To ($171) million 

Underlying loss before tax (Non-IFRS)  From a profit last year To ($240) million 

Underlying loss after tax attributable to 

shareholders (Non-IFRS) 
 From a profit last year To ($240) million 

Statutory net loss after tax  From a profit last year To ($1,378) million 

Statutory net loss after tax attributable to 

members 
 From a profit last year To ($1,378) million 

Final dividend per share    nil 

Record date for final dividend    n/a 

 
The preliminary Financial Report (Appendix 4E) and audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 are 
attached. 
 
The Annual General Meeting will be held on 28 October 2015. 
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 Current Reporting 
Period 

Previous Corresponding 
Period 

 30 June 2015 
$M 

30 June 2014 
$M 

Revenue from ordinary activities 718 1,098 

Gross (loss)/profit (171) 90 

Net loss before tax (1,311) (10) 

Net (loss)/profit after tax from ordinary activities (1,378) 14 

Net (loss)/profit after tax attributable to members (1,378) 17 

Net cash flow (used in)/from operating activities (67) 289 

 
 

Dividend Information 
Amount per 

Ordinary share 
(cents) 

Franked amount per 
Ordinary share 

(cents) 

Dividends paid in the period (paid 6 October 2014) 2.0 - 

Proposed dividend in relation to this period - - 

Record date for final dividend - - 

Last date for receipt of election notice for Dividend 

Reinvestment Plan 
- - 

Payment date of proposed dividend - - 

Issue date of shares under Dividend Reinvestment Plan - - 

Conduit foreign income nil - 

 
 

NTA Backing. 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

Net tangible asset by security $0.24 $1.61 

 

 
Change in Control – Shaw River Manganese Limited (Shaw River) 
 
An agreement was entered into between the Group and Bryve Resources Pty Ltd (Bryve) with the intention that the 
Group would sell its interest in Shaw River and all of its’ subsidiaries, which included Kalamazoo Resources. On 13 
August 2014, the Group disposed of 9.69% interest in Shaw River which resulted in a loss of control. As a result, the 
disposal group held for sale was reclassified as an asset held for sale from the date control was lost. As the Group 
retained significant influence, the Groups’ investment was equity accounted until the remaining interest was disposed. 
 
During the current period, the conditions precedent which granted Bryve the option to purchase the Group’s interest in 
Shaw River was satisfied. The option was exercised on 12 February 2015 with settlement occurring shortly thereafter. 
 
There were no other entities over which the Group has gained or lost control during the period. 
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Associates and Joint Arrangements  
 
Atlas holds interests in the following associates and joint arrangements: 
 

Name of Entity 
Interest % at 

30 June 2015 

Centaurus Metals Limited 20.48% 

North West Infrastructure Pty Limited 63.00% 

Daltons Iron Ore Joint Venture* 100.00% 

*The Mt Webber project consisted of the Mt Webber joint operation and consists of the Dalton’s Iron Ore Joint Venture, of which the 
Group has 100% interest in the Daltons joint venture mining rights, however retains a 75% interest in other minor tenements with the 
joint venture partner. On 24 December 2014, the Group announced that it had reached an agreement with its joint operation partner, 
Altura Mining Limited (Altura), to purchase Altura’s joint operation interest in the Mt Webber mine. On 17 February 2015, settlement of 
the purchase of Altura’s 30% interest in the Mt Webber joint operation occurred. 

 

The Group holds free-carried minority interest shareholdings in several other joint ventures. 

 
Commentary on Results for the Period 

A commentary on the results for the period is contained within the financial statements that accompany this 
announcement. 

Underlying (loss)/profit is a non-IFRS measure that Atlas uses internally to measure the operational performance and 
allocate resources. 

Underlying (loss)/profit is derived from (loss)/profit attributable to owners of Atlas Iron adjusted as follows: 

• Impact of business combinations;  
• Impact of restructuring (including onerous lease); 
• Impairment losses and asset writedowns; 
• Inventory writedowns; 
• Settlement amounts with suppliers and other parties; 
• Suspension costs relating to contractual arrangements; 
• De-recognition of deferred tax assets; and 
• Amounts relating to the Mineral Resources Rent Tax (MRRT).  

Underlying (loss)/profit is not audited. A numerical reconciliation between the underlying (loss)/profit and the statutory net 
(loss)/profit attributable to owners of Atlas Iron is as follows: 

 
30 June 2015 

$’000 

30 June 2014 

$’000 

Underlying (loss)/profit after tax (Non-IFRS) (240,168) 18,590 

Impairment of assets (980,371) (17,811) 

Restructuring costs net of tax (28,092) (5,435) 

MRRT - 28,925 

De-recognition of deferred tax asset (67,003) - 

Provision for settlement (4,146) - 

Suspension costs (24,711) - 

Net impact of business combinations (3,566) - 

Inventory writedown (29,769) (10,017) 

Statutory net (loss)/profit after tax  (1,377,826) 14,252 
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Status of Audit 

 
This Preliminary Final Report is based on accounts that have been audited. This Preliminary Final Report is to be read in 
conjunction with the attached financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2015, together with any public 
announcements made by Atlas Iron during the year 30 June 2015, in accordance with the continuous disclosure 
obligations under the Corporation Act 2001. 
 

 

Previous corresponding period 

 
The previous corresponding period is the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 

 

 

Further enquiries, please contact: 

 
David Flanagan, Managing Director  +61 8 6228 8000 
Brian Lynn, Chief Financial Officer   +61 8 6228 8000 
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Directors 

 

The Directors of Atlas Iron Limited (the Company) present their report together with the financial statements of the 

Group comprising the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group or Atlas) and the Group‟s interest 

in associates and jointly controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the auditor‟s report thereon. 

 

The names and details of the Group's Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are set 

out below. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. Where applicable, all directorships held 

in listed public companies over the last three years have been detailed below. 

 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 

 

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon) LLM B.Juris B.A. GAICD (Non-Executive Chairman) 

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon) was appointed Non-Executive Director of Atlas Iron Limited on 6 May 2015 and subsequently 
as Non-Executive Chairman on 11 June 2015 (Period of service: 0 years and 2 months). 
 
A solicitor by profession, Mrs Edwardes is a former Minister in the Western Australian Government with extensive 
experience and knowledge of WA‟s legal and regulatory framework relating to mining projects, environmental, native 
title, heritage and land access. 
 
During her political career, Mrs Edwardes held positions including WA Attorney General, Minister for the Environment 
and Minister for Labour Relations. She also has broad experience and networks within China‟s business community. 
Mrs Edwardes is Chairman of Vimy Resources Limited (ASX: VMY) and Chairman of Edconnect (formerly) School 
Volunteer Program. 
 
Mrs Edwardes is a member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee (effective 1 July 2015) and is a member of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee (effective 1 July 2015). 
 

David Flanagan BSc, WASM, MAusIMM, CitWa, FAICD (Managing Director) 

Mr Flanagan is a Geologist with more than 25 years‟ experience in the mining industry, having worked in a variety of 

roles from mining operations, exploration, development and corporate. 

  

Mr Flanagan is the founding Managing Director of Atlas; he was appointed as Executive Chairman on 22 February 2012 

and, from 1 September 2012 assumed the role of Non-Executive Chairman. More recently Mr Flanagan resumed the 

role of Managing Director on 11 June 2015 (Period of service: 10 years and 11 months). 

 

Mr Flanagan is the Chancellor of Murdoch University. During 2014 Mr Flanagan was named the Western Australian of 

the Year and West Australian Business Leader of the Year. 

 

Ken Brinsden BEng, WASM, MAusImm (Executive Director) 

Mr Brinsden was appointed as Managing Director on 22 February 2012 and transitioned into an Executive Director role 

on 11 June 2015 (Period of service: 3 years and 4 months). 

 

Mr Brinsden joined Atlas in May 2006 as Operations Manager. In January 2010 he was promoted to Chief Operating 

Officer and in July 2011 to Chief Development Officer. Over this time he has been instrumental to the growth of the 

Company which has seen it develop from a junior explorer to a significant Pilbara iron ore producer.  

 

Mr Brinsden is a mining engineer with over 20 years‟ experience in surface and underground mining operations. Since 

graduating from the Western Australian School of Mines in 1993, he has held a number of roles in production, 

management and brown-fields and green-fields mine developments across a number of leading companies including; 

Central Norseman Gold Corporation, Iluka Resources Limited, WMC Resources Limited and Gold Fields Limited.  

 

Sook Yee Tai CPA (Non-Executive Director) 

Ms Tai was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 2 June 2010 (Period of service: 5 years). 

 

Ms Tai has over 30 years‟ experience in corporate finance, operations and accounting, and is currently the Group 

Managing Director of IMC Industrial Group, with businesses that includes Integrated Transport Logistics, Marine and 

Offshore Engineering and Resources, which provide integrated logistics solutions to resource producers and connecting 

them to Asia‟s industrial end-users, primarily China. Prior to this, she held the position of Head of Chairman‟s Office and 

Head of Group Strategies and Investments at the IMC Pan Asia Alliance Group, where she was responsible for the 

alignment of Group strategies and investments, and overseeing the governance, corporate functions and performance 

of the investment portfolio of the Group. Prior to joining IMC in 2007, Ms Tai was the Country Director for Malaysia of a 

global leader in heavy building materials supplies. Ms Tai has substantial financial and operational experience in a wide 

range of industries including property development, construction, building materials supply, maritime, plantations and 

resources. Ms Tai is a CPA from Malaysia. 

 

Ms Tai is Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee (effective 1 July 2015) and is a member of the 

Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
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Jeff Dowling BComm FCA, FAICD, FFin (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Dowling was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 8 November 2011 (3 years and 7 months). 

 

Mr Dowling is a highly experienced corporate leader with 36 years‟ experience in professional services with Ernst & 

Young. He has held numerous leadership roles within Ernst & Young which focused on mining, oil and gas and other 

industries. His professional expertise centres around audit, risk and financial acumen derived from acting as lead 

partner on large public company audits, capital raisings and corporate transactions. Mr Dowling‟s career with Ernst & 

Young culminated in his appointment as Managing Partner of the Ernst & Young Western Region for a period of 5 

years. He also led Ernst & Young‟s Oceania China Business Group, responsible for building Ernst & Young‟s Oceania 

relationships with Chinese Corporations. Mr Dowling is a Director of Telethon Institute for Child Research Ltd. 

Mr Dowling is currently Chairman of Sirius Resources NL (ASX: SIR), a Director of NRW Holdings Limited (ASX: NRW) 

and a Director of Pura Vida Energy (ASX: PVD). During the last three years, Mr Dowling has been a Director of Neptune 

Marine Services Limited (ASX: NMS). 

 

Mr Dowling is Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and a member of the Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee. 

 

Mark Hancock BBus, CA, FFin 

Mr Hancock was appointed as Executive Director - Commercial on 25 May 2012 and resigned from the Board on 2 

December 2014 (Period of service: 2 years and 7 months). 

 

Mr Hancock has more than 25 years‟ experience in senior financial roles across a number of leading companies in 

Australia and South East Asia, including Lend Lease Corporation Ltd, Woodside Petroleum Ltd and Premier Oil plc. Mr 

Hancock is currently a Director of Centaurus Metals Limited (ASX: CTM) owned approximately 17% by Atlas. 

 

Mr Hancock has resumed the role he held previously of Chief Commercial Officer and continues as Joint Company 

Secretary – appointed on 4 July 2008. 

 

David Hannon BEc, FFin 

Mr Hannon was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 6 August 2004 and resigned from the Board on 10 March 

2015 (Period of service: 10 years and 6 months).  

 

David Smith PhD, BSc Hons, FAICD, FAIM, FWLG 

Dr Smith was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 6 November 2009 and resigned from the Board on 31 May 

2015 (Period of service: 5 years and 6 months). 

 

Kerry Sanderson AO BSc, BEcons, Hon DLitt, FIPAA, MAICD 

Ms Sanderson was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 21 February 2012 and resigned from the Board on 19 

September 2014 (Period of service: 2 years and 6 months). 

 

Geoffrey Simpson LLB, BJuris, MAICD 

Mr Simpson was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 25 May 2012 and resigned from the Board on 2 December 

2014 (Period of service: 2 years and 7 months). 

 

Group Company Secretaries 
 
Yasmin Broughton B.Comm, PG Dip Law, GAICD 
Ms Broughton was appointed Company Secretary and General Counsel on 30 January 2014 (Period of service: 1 year 

and 5 months). 

 

Ms Broughton has over 10 years‟ experience as a Company Secretary and General Counsel and has worked with a 

number of ASX listed companies including Emerchants Limited (ASX: EML) and Alinta Limited (ASX: AAN). Prior to this, 

Ms Broughton was a senior associate at a leading Australian domestic law firm specialising in mergers and acquisitions, 

corporate governance, equity capital markets transactions and other company law matters. 

 

Ms Broughton is admitted to practice as a lawyer in Western Australia and has Executive and non-Executive board 

experience in private and not for profit organisations. Ms Broughton is also a nationally qualified mediator. 

 

Mark Hancock BBus, CA, FFin (Chief Commercial Officer and Joint Company Secretary) 

Mr Hancock joined Atlas as Chief Commercial and Financial Officer in July 2006 and was appointed Joint Group 

Secretary on 4 July 2008. Refer above for details of Mr Hancock‟s experience and directorships. 
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Directors’ interests in the shares, options and rights of the group and related bodies corporate  
The interests of each Director in the shares and options of the Group as notified by the Directors to the ASX in 
accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001 as at the date of this report are as follows: 
 

 

Ordinary Shares 
Options over 

Ordinary Shares 

Share appreciation 
rights and 

performance rights 

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon) 208,100  200,000  -  

David Flanagan 6,840,000  4,000,000  -  

Ken Brinsden 3,209,745  2,500,000  3,290,632  

Sook Yee Tai -  -  -  

Jeff Dowling 725,000  600,000  -  

 

Dividends 

Directors resolved not to pay a dividend for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

 

Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Group during the course of the financial year were the exploration, development, mining 
and sale of iron ore.  
  
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 
Atlas‟ purpose is to deliver mineral products that create value for all stakeholders including shareholders, customers, 
suppliers, and the communities in which the Group operates. In order to achieve this goal, Atlas‟ strategy is to 
consolidate its current production base with a competitive cost base, and to pursue opportunities through optimising 
near term production to maximise profitability and cash flow, developing customer and market focused solutions, and 
maintaining options for growth, should market conditions allow.  
 
A discussion on factors that will impact the achievement of our Strategy can be found later in this Operating and 
Financial Review in “Factors and business risks that affect future performance”. 
 
Performance Indicators 
 
Management and the Board use a number of financial and operating performance indicators to measure performance 
over time against our overall strategy. Selected performance indicators are summarised below: 
 

 2015  2014  2013  

Revenue    

Tonnes sold („000 WMT) 12,175  10,921  7,413  

Revenue (AU$‟000) 718,474  1,097,617  695,137  

Average price per tonne received (including Value fines) (AU$/WMT 
CFR) 

59.96  100.51  93.77  

Operating Results    

Underlying cash gross margin (AU$‟000)* (23,360) 319,594  194,061  

Underlying EBITDA (AU$‟000)* (51,494) 257,855  121,309  

Underlying (loss)/profit after tax (AU$‟000)* (240,168) 18,590  (73,193) 

C1 cash costs (AU$/WMT FOB) 45.74  50.95  49.91  

All-in cash costs (AU$/WMT)** 64.23  76.80  76.27  

Full cash costs (AU$/WMT)*** 68.95  89.93  92.14  

Liquidity     

Cash flow from operations (AU$‟000) (67,087) 289,201  141,753  

Cash (AU$‟000) 73,305  264,242  416,922  

Working capital (AU$‟000) 2,563  208,081  334,680  

Borrowings (AU$‟000) (339,520) (288,356) (287,438) 

 

* The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas‟ Directors provides useful information to assess the financial 

performance of the Company. A reconciliation between statutory results and underlying results is provided in “Underlying cash gross 

margin” section below. These non-IFRS measures are unaudited. 

** All-in cash costs includes C1 cash costs, royalties, freight, corporate and administration, expensed exploration and evaluation but 

excludes interest expense, capital expenditure, one-off restructuring costs, suspension and ramp up costs of operating mine sites, 

contractor collaboration margin and other non-cash expenses. C1 cash costs are inclusive of contractors and Atlas‟ costs including 

contractor rate uplift. All-in cash costs are unaudited. 

*** Full cash costs includes All-in cash costs, capitalised exploration and evaluation, interest expense and sustaining capital 

expenditure, but excludes depreciation and amortisation, one-off restructuring and suspension costs of operating mine sites, 

contractor collaboration margin and other non-cash expenses. Full cash costs are unaudited. 
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Revenue 
 
Tonnes sold (WMT) have increased by 11.5% from the prior year, notwithstanding the suspension of mining operations 
in the June 2015 quarter. This increase is attributable to the Mt Webber mine. At the date of this report mining 
operations have been reinstated at all mine sites. 
 
The table below outlines the breakdown of product that was shipped over the current and previous two years: 
 

 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 

 WMT millions WMT millions WMT millions 

Atlas fines 11.6  9.6  5.9  

Atlas lump 0.5  -  -  

Value fines 0.1  1.3  1.5  

Total 12.2  10.9  7.4  

 
Revenue for the year ended 30 June 2015 was AU$718.5 million following the sale of 12.2 million tonnes of iron ore at 
an average realised selling price of AU$59.96 per tonne. The reduction of revenue by 34.5% has resulted primarily from 
a reduction in the average realised price by AU$40.55 per tonne (40.3%), offset by an increase in tonnes sold of 11.5%.  
 
Operating Results 

 

Underlying cash gross margin 
 
The following table reconciles underlying cash gross margin to statutory (loss)/profit after tax:  
 

 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 

 $ 000’s $ 000‟s $ 000‟s 

Underlying cash gross margin* (23,360) 319,594  194,061  

Unwind of port prepayment included in operating costs (5,289) (14,926) (6,265) 

Exploration and evaluation expense (5,189) (9,042) (26,533) 

Other income and gain on dilution of associate 2,737 4,652  3,259  

Loss on sale of assets (1,071) (173) (696) 

Other costs (27,310) (41,781) (33,655) 

Share of loss of associates and joint ventures and gain/(loss) on 
financial instruments 

7,988  (469) (8,862) 

Underlying EBITDA* (51,494) 257,855  121,309  

Depreciation and amortisation (117,793) (207,893) (98,741) 

Underlying EBIT* (169,287) 49,962  22,568  

Net finance expense (31,542) (24,860) (14,696) 

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (39,339) 37  (8,338) 

Underlying (loss)/profit before tax* (240,168) 25,139  (466) 

Underlying tax expense*  -  (6,549) (72,727) 

Underlying (loss)/profit after tax* (240,168) 18,590  (73,193) 

Inventory writedown (29,769) (10,017) -  

Impairment of assets (980,371) (17,811) (259,982) 

Derecognition of deferred tax asset (67,003) -  -  

Restructuring costs** (28,092) (5,435) -  

Suspension costs** (24,711) -  -  

Provision for settlement (4,146) -  -  

Net impact of business combinations (3,566) -  1,173  

MRRT tax benefit -  28,925  86,930  

Statutory (loss)/profit after tax (1,377,826) 14,252  (245,072) 

 
* The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas‟ Directors provides useful information to assess the financial 
performance of the Group. These non-IFRS measures are unaudited. 
** Restructuring costs and suspension costs includes non-cash onerous lease cost of AU$19.5 million and the BGC settlement cost of 
AU$19.4 million, which was settled in equity subsequent to year end. 
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Underlying EBITDA and EBIT 

The following graph shows a comparison of underlying EBITDA for the year ended 30 June 2015 compared to the prior 
year: 
 

  
 

Underlying EBITDA has primarily been impacted by a 40.3% decrease in the average iron ore price received. This was 
partially offset by a significant (16.4%) reduction in the Company‟s all-in cash cost per tonne. Cost reductions achieved 
did not match the rate of decline experienced in the iron ore price. 

EBIT was also impacted by a 43.3% decrease in depreciation to AU$117.8 million as a result of large impairments in the 
carrying value of exploration and mine assets. 

Underlying loss after tax 

The underlying loss after tax is (AU$240.2) million from a profit of AU$18.6 million in the prior year due to the reduction 
in the underlying EBIT outlined above, and a reduction in the AUD/USD exchange rate resulting in higher interest and 
unrealised foreign exchange charges on the USD denominated debt facility. 

Statutory loss after tax 

The statutory earnings after tax has fallen by AU$1,392.1 million from the prior year to a loss of AU$1,377.8 million due 
to significant writedowns and one off costs, including: 

- impairment charges on assets of AU$980.4 million; 
- derecognition of deferred tax assets of AU$67.0 million; 
- inventory valuation writedown of AU$29.8 million; 
- restructuring costs, the majority of which were onerous lease provisions, of AU$28.1 million;  
- suspension costs of AU$24.7 million; and 
- the impact of settlement costs and business combinations of AU$7.7 million. 

 
The impairment of AU$980.4 million accounted for the majority of the reduction in non-current assets of AU$1,070.7 

million. 

C1 cash cost per tonne  

C1 cash costs per tonne decreased by 10.2% (AU$5.21 per tonne) from the prior year to AU$45.74 per tonne 
associated with significant cost reduction initiatives implemented during the year.  

All-in cash cost per tonne  

All-in cash costs per tonne decreased by 16.4% (AU$12.57 per tonne) from the prior year to AU$64.23 per tonne due to 
a reduction in C1 cash costs, freight, royalties, corporate costs and other overheads. 

Full cash cost per tonne 

Full cash cost per tonne decreased 23.3% (AU$20.98) from the prior year to AU$68.95 due to a reduction in All-in cash 
costs, sustaining capital and higher tonnes sold.  
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Liquidity 

Net operating cash flows and funding from equity and debt markets are the Company‟s main sources of cash. These 
cash flows have been fundamental to the Company‟s ability to fund the commencement of and ongoing operations of its 
existing mine sites.  

Following is a summary of key sources and uses of cash. A full statement of cash flow is contained in the financial 
statements and explanatory notes appear in Note 24 to the financial statements:  

 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 

 $ 000’s $ 000‟s $ 000‟s 

Cash (used in)/from operations (49,893) 290,355  152,757  

Interest received 2,315  7,888  15,529  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure payments (5,189) (9,042) (26,533) 

Restructuring/suspension costs (14,320) -  -  

Net operating cash flows (67,087) 289,201  141,753  

Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (15,645) (20,371) (75,168) 

Payments for mine development and reserve development (86,781) (332,947) (212,857) 

Stamp duty paid (1,694) (18,911) (48,900) 

Loan to joint operation partner (6,636) (12,606) -  

Proceeds from/(payments for) bank guarantees 21,248  2,590  (2,440) 

Other 8,450  (6,151) (7,257) 

Net investing cash flows (81,058) (388,396) (346,622) 

(Payments for)/proceeds from issue of shares (net of costs) (1,744) -  96  

Payments for shares acquired by Atlas Iron Employees (219) (390) -  

Dividends paid (16,229) (22,490) (20,430) 

Interest on borrowings (30,650) (27,502) (13,480) 

Net (payments of)/proceeds from borrowings (17,698) 1,929  229,195  

Net financing cash flows (66,540) (48,453) 195,381  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 23,748  (5,032) 26,871  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (190,937) (152,680) 17,383  

 
Net Operating Cash Flows 
 
The following table reconciles underlying EBITDA to cash flow (used in)/from operations: 
 

 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 

 $ 000’s $ 000‟s $ 000‟s 

Underlying EBITDA* (51,494) 257,855  121,309  

Working capital movements    

     Inventory 23,886  (14,827) (29,425) 

     Debtors and other assets 25,888  4,059  822  

     Creditors and other liabilities (49,541) 33,586  21,951  

Interest received 2,315  7,888  15,529  

Share of joint venture and associates losses 3,587  3,049  8,862  

Share-based payments (258) 2,423  1,269  

Loss/(gain) on fair value of financial assets 687  (64) 3,686  

Gain on financial instruments (7,276) -  -  

Restructuring costs (8,578) -  -  

Suspension costs (5,742) -  -  

Other non-cash items (561) (4,768) (2,250) 

Cash flow (used in)/from operations (67,087) 289,201  141,753  

 
* The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas‟ Directors provides useful information to assess the financial 
performance of the Company. A reconciliation between statutory results to underlying results is provided in “Underlying cash gross 
margin” section above. These non-IFRS measures are unaudited. 

 
An adverse economic environment and particularly a weak iron ore price significantly impacted operating cash flows 
during the year ended 30 June 2015, despite the Company‟s efforts to reduce costs.   
 
Net Investing and Financing Cash Flows 
 
The reduction in mine development and reserve development spend reflects the conclusion of Altas‟ mine development 
phase with the completion of the Mt Webber Stage 2 development. The majority of capital spent related to the Mt 
Webber Stage 2 development, including increasing the crushers capacity to 6 million tonnes per annum. 
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During the 30 June 2015 financial year Atlas paid a cash dividend of AU$0.02 per share in relation to the 30 June 2014 
financial year, repaid AU$14.3 million of the unsecured pre-export finance facility and paid interest and principal 
payment on the Term Loan B facility of AU$34.0 million. 
 
Cash 
 
At the end of the financial year, Atlas had AU$73.3 million in cash and cash equivalents. The following graph outlines 
the cash inflows and outflows during the year:  
 

 

The reduction in cash from AU$264.2 million to AU$73.3 million during the year has primarily resulted from operating 
cash outflows off the back of lower iron ore pricing, capital investment primarily in the completion of Mt Webber Stage 2 
development, interest and principal payments on borrowings and the payment of dividends. This has been offset by the 
positive impact of exchange rates on cash balances and the return of mining bonds during the year.  
 
Working capital 
 
The following table summarises Atlas‟ working capital position: 
 

 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 

 $ 000’s $ 000‟s $ 000‟s 

Cash 73,305  264,242  416,922  

Trade and other receivables 23,973  78,165  37,896  

Inventories 15,604  53,425  46,150  

Trade and other payables (110,319) (187,751) (166,288) 

Working Capital 2,563  208,081  334,680  

 
Working capital has reduced by AU$205.5 million due to: 

- Operating losses resulting primarily from a declining AU$ iron ore price during the year, partially offset by 
reduced operating costs; 

- Interest and principal repayments on financing facilities; 
- Payment of dividends; and 
- Investment in the completion of Mt Webber Stage 2 development. 

 
This position improved subsequent to year end on the successful completion of the Company‟s equity raising in July 
2015.  
 
Borrowings 
 
Atlas holds a secured Term Loan B facility for US$268.1 million, which is fully drawn and has a term expiring on 10 
December 2017. Atlas also has access to a AU$50.0 million revolving facility, which expires on 10 December 2015 and 
is undrawn at the year end.  
 
Borrowings have increased from AU$288.4 million to AU$339.5 million primarily from the change in the AU$:US$ 
foreign exchange rate from 0.9420 at 30 June 2014 to 0.7680 at 30 June 2015.  
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Atlas is in compliance with the Term Loan B facility‟s total asset to secured debt covenant ratio of greater than 2:1 at 30 
June 2015.  
 
Factors and business risks that affect future performance 
 
Atlas operates in a changing environment and is therefore subject to factors and business risks that will affect future 
performance. The following factors and business risks could have a material effect on Atlas‟ future results from an 
operations and financial position: 
 
Commodity prices  
 
Atlas‟ revenues and cash flows are derived from the sale of iron ore. The majority of Atlas‟ sales contracts use a pricing 
formula linked to the spot market for iron ore. Contract pricing is often based on the spot market price in a future period. 
This has meant that Atlas‟ final received price is known one to two months after iron ore is shipped. Atlas‟ financial 
performance has historically therefore been exposed to fluctuations in the iron ore price, which has been particularly 
volatile in recent times. 
 
As part of the contractor collaboration deed, Atlas will look to reduce volatility on a three month look forward basis using 
hedging products, fixed price sales and shorter dated pricing periods. This will reduce exposure to iron ore price risk, 
but may also limit Atlas‟ ability to leverage any potential iron ore price appreciation. 
 
Iron ore prices may be influenced by numerous factors and events that are beyond the control of Atlas, including 
increased global supply, actions of other producers, decreased demand, currency exchange rates, general economic 
conditions, regulatory changes and other global, regional, political and economic factors. Atlas cannot provide any 
assurance as to the prices Atlas will achieve for its iron ore. Changes in iron ore prices may have a positive or negative 
effect on various aspects of Atlas‟ business including debt covenants, profit margins, project development and 
production plans and activities, together with its ability to fund those plans and activities. 
 
Atlas sells iron ore products of differing nature and grade. The market for such products varies depending on factors 
outlined above. As the lump product market is smaller than the fines product market the impact of competitor activity or 
changes in demand have the potential to be amplified and therefore impact the price received. 
 
The following table shows the average prices based on Platts 62% Fe and freight (CFR) to China over the last three 
years:  
 

 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 

 $  $  $  

62% CFR (US$/DMT) 71.39  122.59  127.38  

Average price per tonne received CFR (including Atlas Value Fines) (AU$/WMT) 59.96  100.51  93.77  

 
The price received by Atlas is adjusted for Fe grade and quality.  
 
Exchange rates 
 
Atlas is exposed to fluctuations in the US dollar as all sales are denominated in US dollars. The Company borrows 
money and holds a portion of cash in US dollars, which provides a partial natural hedge.   
 
Accordingly, Atlas‟ income from, and the value of its business, will be affected by fluctuations in the rates by which the 
US dollar is exchanged with Australian dollars.  
 
Although steps may be undertaken to manage currency risk (e.g. via hedging strategies), adverse movements in the 
Australian dollar against the US dollar may have an adverse impact on Atlas. The following table shows the average 
USD/AUD exchange rate over the last three years: 
 

 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 

 $ $ $ 

USD/AUD 0.8382  0.9187  1.0239  

 
Refer to Note 32 to the financial statements for details of the Company‟s foreign currency exposure and sensitivity 
analysis.  
 
Operating and development risks 
 
Atlas‟ operations and development activities could be affected by various unforseen events and circumstances, which 
may result in increased costs, lower production levels and, following on from that, lower revenue levels. Any negative 
outcomes flowing from these operational risks could have an adverse effect on Atlas‟ business, financial condition, 
profitability and performance. 
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Mining requires significant interaction with the natural environment and is impacted by inherent vulnerability including 
(but not limited to) weather, ground conditions, mineral enrichment, mineral endowment and ore physical 
characteristics, each of which might have an impact on the overall deliverability or cost of the ore delivered to 
customers. Atlas seeks to minimise the potential damage flowing from these risks by obtaining business interruption 
insurance for certain events and appropriate indemnities from suppliers and contractors. 
 
Debt covenants 
 
Atlas has financing arrangements in place which are subject to acceleration and enforcement rights in the event a 
default were to arise under them. The Term Loan B is secured, so enforcement may involve enforcement of security 
over the assets of Atlas and its material subsidiaries, including appointing a receiver. 
   
The Term Loan B facility has no earnings or net asset based covenants, but has a total asset to secured debt covenant 
ratio requirement of greater than 2:1 which is measured semi-annually, by reference to the financial position of the 
Group as at the last date of each semi-annual period (being 30 June and 31 December of each year) as reflected in the 
lodged statutory accounts for the applicable period. 
 
The total asset to secured debt covenant ratio will vary according to the amount of the Group‟s total assets, the amount 
of the outstanding US dollar secured debt and the exchange rate used to convert the debt to Australian dollars. The 
value of the Group‟s total assets is subject to, amongst other things, an on-going assessment of the recoverable amount 
of the Group‟s non-current asset values. Refer to Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details.  
In the event Atlas was not able to comply with the total asset to secured debt covenant ratio or its other obligations 
under the Term Loan B, Atlas may be required to seek amendments and/or waivers of covenant compliance or 
alternative funding arrangements. There is no assurance that Atlas‟ lenders would consent to such an amendment or 
waiver in the event of non-compliance, or that such consent would not be conditioned upon the receipt of a cash 
payment, revised payout terms, increased interest rates, or restrictions on the expansion of debt facilities in the 
foreseeable future, or that its lenders would not exercise rights that would be available to them, including among other 
things, accelerating repayment of outstanding borrowings, or appointing a receiver. 
 
The Group was in compliance with the total asset to secured debt covenant ratio at 30 June 2015.  
 
In the event significant uncertainty arises in relation to Atlas‟ ability to fully repay, refinance or reschedule the 
outstanding Term Loan B balance at maturity date the Group‟s ability to continue as a going concern may also be 
uncertain. Refer to Note 1(a) of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details. 
 
Regulatory and title risk 
 
Changes in legislative and administrative regimes, taxation laws, interest rates, other legal and government policies in 
Australia may have an adverse effect on the assets, operations and ultimately the financial performance of Atlas and the 
market price of Atlas shares. 
 
Exploration and production are dependent on the granting and maintenance of appropriate licences, permits and 
regulatory consents and authorisations (including those related to interests in tenements), which may not be granted or 
may be withdrawn or be made subject to limitations at the discretion of government or regulatory authorities. Atlas also 
relies on authorisations pursuant to contractual regimes with various counterparties in relation to its ongoing operations 
and development activities. Although such authorisations may be renewed following expiry or granted (as the case may 
be), there can be no assurance that such authorisations will be continued, renewed or granted, or as to the terms of 
renewals or grants. If there is a failure to obtain or retain the appropriate authorisations or there is a material delay in 
obtaining or renewing them or they are granted subject to onerous conditions, then Atlas‟ ability to conduct its 
exploration, development or operations may be adversely affected. 
 
Interest rates 
 
Atlas is exposed to interest rate risk on its borrowings, which are predominately held in US dollars and have a floating 
interest rate. Fluctuation in interest rates will have an impact on the Company‟s earnings. Refer to Note 32 to the 
financial statements for details of our interest rate exposure and sensitivity analysis.  
 
Health, safety and environment  
 
Atlas is subject to regulation in respect of the health and safety of our people and the protection and rehabilitation of our 
environment. This is an area that is continually evolving and the expectations of communities can be different to the 
regulations in place. Health, safety and the environment is a key focus area of Atlas and the Company does all that it 
can do to comply with regulations and meet the expectations of the community. Given the sensitive nature of this area, 
Atlas may be exposed to litigation, foreseen and unforseen compliance and rehabilitation costs despite its best efforts.  
 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
Stage 2 of the Mt Webber mine was commissioned in the December 2014 quarter increasing the production rate of the 
mine to 6Mtpa. 
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In December 2014, the Group agreed to purchase the remaining 30% interest in Mt Webber mine owned by Altura 
Mining Limited. Settlement of the purchase took place in February 2015 for a consideration of AU$28.5 million, 
equivalent to the loan balance outstanding with Altura Mining Limited at the time, and a future sales royalty of 1% of the 
FOB sales price on Altura‟s tonnes where the 62% Fe price exceeds AU$95/tonne.  
On 10 April 2015, the Company suspended mining operations and suspended trading in its shares on ASX in response 
to a significant and sustained fall in the iron ore price and commenced a whole of business review. In May 2015, Atlas 
executed the contractor collaboration agreement with certain key contractors which provides for a significantly lower 
cost base in lower iron ore price environments. Atlas implemented a revised operating strategy on the back of the 
contractor collaboration model which enabled production at Abydos and Wodgina mines to resume in the June 2015 
quarter and allowed Mt Webber mine to re-start in early July 2015. 
  
On 11 June 2015, the Company issued a Prospectus to undertake a capital raising to raise up to AU$180 million. Refer 
to the below section for the outcome of the capital raising.  
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
 
Following a significant and sustained fall in the USD iron ore price the Company suspended its mining operations in 
April 2015 and undertook a whole of business review. In May 2015 the Company executed the contractor collaboration 
agreement with certain key contractors which will significantly reduce Atlas‟ cost base (in lower iron ore price 
environments) and therefore contribute to a more sustainable business. 
  
On the back of establishing the contractor collaboration model the Company issued a prospectus on 11 June 2015 to 
raise up to AU$180 million of equity. Shareholder approval for the capital raising was received on 25 June 2015.  
Subsequent to year end the Company received applications for AU$87 million from existing shareholders, contractors 
and new investors. The Company issued 1,744,762,043 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of AU$0.05 per 
share on 24 July 2015. In addition, 1,774,762,043 free listed options were issued to subscribing parties, which are 
exercisable at AU$0.075 per share and expire on 30 June 2017. 
  
The Company lifted suspension in the trading of its securities on 27 July 2015. 
  
No other matters have arisen since 30 June 2015, which have significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial 
years.  
 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
 
During the coming year, the Group plans to continue mining operations at its Wodgina, Abydos and Mt Webber mines 
under a revised operating strategy founded on the back of the contractor collaboration model. 
  
The Group will continue work on exploration and evaluation activities, particularly at its existing operations, Corunna 
Downs and McPhee Creek, to enhance current resource and reserve positions.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 
 
The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration and mining activities. 
The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware 
of and is in compliance with all environmental legislation. The Directors of the Group are not aware of any breach of 
environmental legislation for the period under review. 
 
SHARE OPTIONS 
 
Unissued shares under options 
At the date of this report the following unissued ordinary shares under option are outstanding: 
 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
Number of 

Listed Options 
Number of 

Unlisted Options 

 $    

Balance at the beginning of the period 2.79  -  11,685,000  

Options expired 2.78  -  (11,585,000) 

Total number of options outstanding as at 30 June 
2015 

4.20  -  100,000  

Granted subsequent to balance date 0.075  1,744,762,043  -  

Total number of options outstanding at the date of this 
report 

0.075  1,744,762,043  100,000  
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The balance is comprised of the following: 
 

 
Options (Number) 

Class (Expiry date, exercise price 
and vesting status) 

Listed 1,744,762,043 30/06/2017 $0.08 options all vested 

Unlisted 100,000 31/12/2015 $4.20 options all vested 

Total Options 1,744,862,043  

 
No person entitled to exercise any option referred to above have or had, by virtue of the option, a right to participate in 
any share issue of any other body corporate. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  
 
During the financial year, the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the Group, the 
Group secretaries and all Executive officers of the Group and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred 
as such a Director, Secretary or Executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors 
have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the 
directors‟ and officers‟ liability and legal expenses‟ insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms 
of the contract. The Group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Group or of any related body corporate against a liability 
incurred by an officer or auditor. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

 

Letter from the Remuneration and Nomination Committee Chairman 

 

 

Dear Shareholder 

On behalf of my fellow committee members and our Board, I am pleased to present our 2015 remuneration report.  

The remuneration report provides insight to shareholders into the Board‟s decisions on how we remunerate and reward 

our Executive team to achieve our overall business strategy. The Board strives to align our Executive remuneration with 

shareholder expectations and will continue to engage with shareholders and proxy advisors to ensure their expectations 

are taken into consideration when planning for the future. The 2014 remuneration report received positive shareholder 

support with a vote of 95% in favour. 

The 2015 financial year has again seen significant volatility in the iron ore industry globally, and not dissimilar to other 

businesses, Atlas‟ shareholders have felt the impact of this instability. The Board and Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee are committed to delivering remuneration outcomes that are aligned to shareholder expectations.   

With this in mind, the Board determined not to pay any short term incentives, long term incentives or increase salaries in 

the financial year. The previous Managing Director (Mr Brinsden) and the Non-Executive Directors have taken a 15% 

reduction in the total fixed remuneration and fees respectively. The reduction in the Managing Director‟s fixed 

remuneration remained in place when Mr Flanagan was appointed Managing Director. The Board continues to focus on 

cash preservation and is working towards replacing the current incentive plans with an equity plan. 

The structure of our Executive‟s remuneration package remains a key focus of our Board to ensure alignment with the 

nature of Atlas‟ business as it optimises operations and continues to reduce costs. 

I commend the remuneration report to you. 

Regards 

 

 

 

Sook Yee Tai 

Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

1. INTRODUCTION 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Directors and other Key Management Personnel (KMP) 

of the Group. For the purposes of this report “Executives” include Executive Directors and KMP. 

(i) Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) 

C. Edwardes (Hon) Chairman – appointed 11 June 2015 Part Year 

 Non-Executive Director (6 May 2015 to 11 June 2015) Part Year 

S.Y. Tai Director Full Year 

J. Dowling Director Full Year 

D. Flanagan Chairman – to 11 June 2015 Part Year 

D. Smith Lead Independent Director – resigned effective 31 May 2015 Part Year 

D. Hannon Director – resigned effective 10 March 2015 Part Year 

K. Sanderson AO Director – resigned effective 19 September 2014 Part Year 

G. Simpson Director – resigned effective 2 December 2014 Part Year 

(ii) Executive Director 

D. Flanagan Managing Director – from 11 June 2015 Part Year 

K. Brinsden Executive Director – from 11 June 2015 Part Year 

 Managing Director – to 11 June 2015 Part Year  

M. Hancock Executive Director Commercial – to 2 December 2014 Part Year 

(iii) Other Executive KMPs 

J. Sinclair Chief Operating Officer Full Year 

B. Lynn Chief Financial Officer  Full Year 

M. Hancock Chief Commercial Officer – from 2 December 2014 Part Year 

R. Wilson Chief Development Officer – redundancy effective 30 November 
2014 

Part Year 

 

After the reporting date and before the date of the financial report was authorised for issue Mr Lynn, Chief Financial 
Officer, resigned for personal reasons. The Board is working on a transition plan for Mr Lynn‟s departure from the 
business and the role will be replaced. 

2. REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE 
2.1 Remuneration Committee 
The Atlas Board is responsible for ensuring that the remuneration arrangements for the Group are aligned with the 
overall business strategy and shareholders‟ interests. The role of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is to 
advise the Board on Executive remuneration. The Committee makes recommendations to the Board on Executive 
remuneration arrangements, including where appropriate, all awards under the Long Term Incentive (LTI) plan and 
approves the targets and level of the Short Term Incentive (STI) pool.  
 
During the year, the Board conducted a Board review and as part of that review, decided to merge the Nomination 
Committee with the Remuneration Committee to better align the function of both Committees given the size of the 
company. 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee comprise the following Directors: 
 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee Members  

C. Edwardes (Hon)                 Committee Member from 1 July 2015 

S.Y. Tai Committee Chair from 1 July 2015 

J. Dowling Committee Member 

D. Smith  Committee Chair to 31 May 2015             

D. Flanagan Committee Member to 1 July 2015 

K. Sanderson AO Committee Member to 19 September 2014 

 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee meets throughout the year as required and where Senior Management 
input is required the Managing Director attends by invitation. Refer to page 26 for the number of Committee meetings 
held during the year. There were no Remuneration and Nomination Committee meetings between the period of Mr 
Smith‟s resignation and the appointment of Ms Tai as Chairman of the Committee. 
 
2.2 Independent Remuneration Consultants 
Given the market volatility over the past 12 months, and in line with the salary freeze applied across the business the 
Board determined not to undertake an independent remuneration review but instead have made reference to industry 
remuneration trends. 
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3. EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS 

The Board is committed to driving alignment between the remuneration arrangements of its Executives and KMP with 
the expectations of our shareholders, its employees and the Company‟s sustainability.  
 
The Company‟s Executive Remuneration Policy aims to reward Executives fairly and responsibly in accordance with the 
Australian market and ensure that the Group: 

- provides competitive rewards that attract, retain and motivate Executives of the highest calibre; 
- sets demanding levels of performance which are clearly linked to an Executive‟s remuneration; 
- structures remuneration at a level that reflects the Executive‟s duties and accountabilities and is competitive 

within Australia and, where applicable, internationally; 
- benchmarks remuneration against appropriate comparator groups;  
- aligns Executive incentive rewards with the creation of value for shareholders; and  
- complies with applicable legal requirements and appropriate standards of governance. 

 
The following diagram illustrates how the remuneration strategy aligns with the strategic direction, and how the various 
elements of the remuneration arrangements for Executives are linked to performance. 

 
3.1 Remuneration mix 
The remuneration arrangements for Executives consist of fixed remuneration and short term incentives. Market trends, 
strategic business objectives and shareholder interests are considered when determining the mix of remuneration and 
how each component will drive desired outcomes. Based on these considerations, the following summarises the target 
remuneration components for Atlas Executives for the 2015 financial year.  

Strategic purpose 
We deliver mineral products that create value for our shareholders, our people, customers and the communities we 
operate within. 

Remuneration strategy linkage to business objectives 
To align the interests of Executives with shareholders and to attract, motivate and retain high performing individuals. 

FIXED REMUNERATION 
Purpose: 
To provide a competitive fixed remuneration element based on criticality of role, market and individual skills and 
experience. 

Instrument: 
Comprises of a base salary, guaranteed superannuation contributions and other fixed benefits. 
 
Performance link: 
Strategically aligned individual performance objectives are assessed annually during remuneration reviews. 
 

AT RISK SHORT TERM INCENTIVE (STI) 
Purpose: 
To reward Executives for business success in achieving short term objectives and for their contribution to the 
achievements of the organisation as a whole and their business units. 

Instrument: 
Paid in cash and equity.  

Performance link: 
For KMPs the short term incentive plan is structured so that 20% is linked to individual KPI achievement and 80% is 
linked to overall corporate objectives. Corporate measures are set to drive a focus on leading and lagging safety 
outcomes, cost of production, production growth and relative share price performance to a basket of peers.  

The STI plan for Executives includes a deferral element awarded as equity. 

AT RISK LONG TERM INCENTIVE (LTI) 
Purpose: 
To reward Executives for business success in achieving long term objectives and for their contribution to the 
achievements of the organisation as a whole and their business units. 

Instrument: 
Paid in equity.  

Performance link: 
For KMPs the long term incentive plan is structured so that 100% is linked to long term performance outcomes 
determined by the Board.  
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Targeted remuneration mix:    

Fixed remuneration    Target STI     

Managing Director 62.5% 
 

37.5% 
 

 

     

 

No LTI was issued for the 2015 financial year. 
 
3.2 Remuneration components 
3.2.1 Fixed remuneration 
KMPs are provided a competitive fixed remuneration element based on criticality of role, market comparator data and 
individual skills and experience. Fixed remuneration consists of base pay and superannuation. 

3.2.2 Short term incentive (STI) plan 
For KMPs 20% of the STI plan is linked to individual KPI achievement (Personal Component) and 80% of the STI plan 
is linked to overall corporate objectives (Corporate Component). 

Personal Component 
KMPs are set personal KPIs which must be achieved before an STI is awarded either under the Personal Component or 
the Corporate Component. 

Given the financial performance of the Company, the Board determined not to test the Personal Component of the STI 
plan and no awards were paid to employees under this category either. 
 
Corporate Component 
KMPs are only eligible for the Corporate Component of the STI plan if the business achieves a positive underlying profit 
before tax (Profit Performance Gateway). In the event that the Profit Performance Gateway hurdle is not met, the 
Corporate Component of the STI will not be paid. 

If the Profit Performance Gateway is met, the Board reviews the annual Corporate targets for the STI Plan which aim to 
drive the organisation to achieve its shorter term milestones that, in turn, provide the foundations for long term growth 
and thus, greater shareholder wealth. At the beginning of the financial year key targets were approved for the 2015 
financial year, all of which aimed at driving business growth, generating efficiencies in cost and importantly driving 
shareholder value. The measures, their intended objectives and the weighting applied to each measure are as follows: 

Table (i) 

  
Corporate Targets Weighting  

Safety 

1 

Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) 

LTIs, restricted work cases and medical treatment injuries per million hours 

worked. 5% reduction on FY14 target. 

10% 

2 

Compliance to Site Safety Management Plans (SMP) 

a. Quality of SMP against established criteria (30% weighting) 

b. Compliance to SMP (70% weighting) as verified by independent 

external audit 

5% 

3 

High Potential Incident Frequency Rate (HPIFR) 

Incidents classified as having potential risk rating of >H19 (Catastrophic – 

Unlikely). 5% reduction on FY14 result. 

10% 

EBIT 
4 Absolute Underlying EBIT Outcome 30% 

5 Normalised Underlying EBIT Outcome 30% 

RSPP 6 

Relative Share Price Performance (RSPP) 

Relative peer performance using bundle of ASX listed iron ore producers and 

developers – Out-perform by 10%. 

15% 

  
Total 100% 

 
  

 
Other Executives 
 

 
66.7% 

 

 
33.3% 
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Collectively the Corporate targets must reach an overall combined threshold greater or equal to 75% before the 
Corporate Component of the STI is paid. 
 
At 30 June 2015, the Profit Performance Gateway was not met and on this basis none of the Corporate Components of 
the STI Plan were paid. Of the six measures listed in table (i) the HPIFR and Normalised Underlying EBIT Outcome 
were met. 

Consequently, for the current financial year 2015, 100% of the KMPs Corporate STI payments have been forfeited as 
the overall combined threshold was not met. Over the past two years, 25% (2014), and 100% (2013), respectively of 
KMPs Corporate STI payments have been forfeited as full targets were not met. 
  
The Board is currently reviewing the STI plan and has not yet made a decision whether to replace it with an equity plan 
subject to shareholder approval where applicable. 
 
3.2.3 Short term incentive deferred plan 
 
Whilst STI Plans pay rewards over a short period of time i.e. twelve months, Atlas has taken into consideration feedback 
from shareholders and proxy advisors and has deferred up to 20% of KMPs rewards since the financial year 2014. No 
STI was deferred in the financial year given no STI was awarded during the year. 
 
The Atlas STI deferral plan provides Executives with an opportunity to acquire an ownership interest in the Company, by 
delivering a specific portion of the Executives earned STI award in the form of Deferred Share Rights. The Plan is 
designed to encourage the retention of Executives and provide equity exposure in order to align Executive remuneration 
with the creation of long-term shareholder value. It will also provide a vehicle for Executives to meet their minimum 
shareholding obligations over a set period of time. 
 
The overall STI percentage of fixed remuneration for Executives is shown in the table below: 
 

STI target % of Total Fixed 
Remuneration (TFR) 

D Flanagan1 K Brinsden2 M Hancock3 Other KMPs 

Cash component 40% 40% 30% 30% 

Deferred component 20% 20% 20% 20% 

Total STI target of fixed remuneration 60% 60% 50% 50% 

 
1 Managing Director and CEO from 11 June 2015. 
2 Managing Director and CEO up to 11 June 2015 appointed Executive Director 11 June 2015.  
3 Executive Director - Commercial up to 2 December 2014 appointed Chief Commercial Officer 2 December 2014. 

 
No such deferral happened in the current year as no STI were paid.  
 
In the previous financial year, the Board exercised its discretion in respect of the FY 2014 STI deferred payments and 
suspended 50% of the Executive Directors and 25% of the remaining KMPs STI payments. These were subject to the 
achievement of additional KPIs being met during the financial year. The additional hurdles were not met and therefore 
those suspended STI payments were forfeited. 
 
The STI deferral plan is currently being reviewed by the Board. 
 
3.2.4 Long term incentive (LTI) plan 

Historically LTI awards were made annually to Executives in order to align remuneration to the businesses longer term 

goals. Given the financial performance of the Company this financial year, the Board determined not to issue any LTIs 

in 2015. 

 

As in previous financial years, eligibility to any LTI reward is subject to the participant‟s continuous service over the term 

of the plan at the point of vesting, subject to Board discretion. 

 

The LTI target percentage for Executives in prior years is shown in the table below: 

 

 D Flanagan1 K Brinsden2 M Hancock3 Other KMPs 

LTI target % of TFR 100% 100% 50% 50% 
 

1 Managing Director and CEO from 11 June 2015. 
2 Managing Director and CEO up to 11 June 2015 appointed Executive Director 11 June 2015.  
3 Executive Director - Commercial up to 2 December 2014 appointed Chief Commercial Officer 2 December 2014. 

  



 
 

 
 

Atlas Iron Limited and its Controlled Entities - Annual Report 

Directors’ Report (continued) 

ATLAS IRON LIMITED 2015 ANNUAL REPORT 20 

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) continued 

 

4. EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION OUTCOMES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR  

In the 2015 financial year, no STIs were awarded, no LTIs were awarded and no new LTIs were granted.     

In considering the Group‟s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee has regard to the following measures in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial 
years: 
 

 30-Jun-15  30-Jun-14  30-Jun-13  30-Jun-12  30-Jun-11  

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the 
company ($‟000) 

(1,377,689) 17,437  (241,886) (114,616) 168,617  

Underlying (loss)/profit after tax* 
(unaudited) ($‟000) 

(240,168) 18,590  (73,193) 72,181  174,337  

Change in share price $ (0.51) $ (0.10) $ (1.27) $ (1.71) $ 1.69  

Ore shipped (WMT) – Mtpa 12.2  10.9  7.4  5.6  4.6  

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (150.1) 1.6  (27.0) (13.0) 26.7  

Dividend (cents per share) -  2.0  3.0  3.0  3.0  

 
* Note that the underlying (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) was a measure introduced for the year ended 30 June 2012 to better 

reflect the performance of the Group. 

 
The outcomes of the LTI awards granted which cover the period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 are summarised in the 

table below: 

 

 Target Instrument Weighting Outcome 

Total shareholder return 
Performance rights 25% Not achieved 

Share appreciation rights 25% Not achieved 

Internal iron ore shipped 
Performance rights 25% 85% achieved 

Share appreciation rights 25% Not achieved 

 
As shown in the table above, as a result of the Company‟s share price depreciation over the period, the Total 
Shareholder Return target was not met and therefore no performance or share appreciation rights were issued relating 
to this target. The Internal Iron Ore Shipped target was partially met with 85% of the performance rights component 
being met. However, once again due to the Company‟s share price depreciation over the period, no share appreciation 
rights were issued relating to this target. As a result of the Company‟s financial performance during the period, the 
Board determined on 13 August 2015 not to vest any of the LTIs granted for the period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 
regardless of the above target being met. Any amount previously recognised in relation to the Internal Iron Ore Shipped 
target being met has been reversed. 
 
In relation to the LTIs granted for the period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016, whilst the PRs and SARs are measured 
against June 2016 targets, it is anticipated that one of the hurdles being an EPS target will not be met. Any amount 
previously recognised in relation to this hurdle has been reversed. 
 
With the volatility in the iron ore market during 2015 and the flow on impact this had on the business, KMP salary 
reviews were considered and no salary increases eventuated. The previous Managing Director (Mr Brinsden) voluntarily 
took a 15% cut to his total fixed remuneration (includes base salary and superannuation) and this reduction remains in 
force for the current Managing Director (Mr Flanagan). 
 
5. EXECUTIVE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS 

Remuneration arrangements and conditions of employment for Executives are formalised in Executive Service 
Agreements or Contracts of Employment.  
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The agreements relating to remuneration for the 2015 financial year are set out below: 
 

 D Flanagan
1
 K Brinsden

2
 M Hancock

3
 J Sinclair

4
 B Lynn

5
 

Resignation notice 6 months 6 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 

Termination notice 
for cause 

None None None None None 

Termination notice 
without cause 

12 months 12 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 

Termination in case 
of illness, injury or 
incapacity 

3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 

STI target % of 
TFR 

60% 60% 50% 50% 50% 

Redundancy NES* NES* 
4 weeks for every 

year of service 
4 weeks for every 

year of service 
NES* 

 

1 Managing Director and CEO from 11 June 2015. 
2 Managing Director and CEO up to 11 June 2015 appointed Executive Director 11 June 2015.  
3 Executive Director - Commercial up to 2 December 2014 appointed Chief Commercial Officer 2 December 2014. 
4 Chief Operations Officer. 
5 Chief Financial Officer appointed 20 January 2014. 
* In line with National Employment Standards 

Other retirement benefits may be provided directly by the Group if approved by shareholders. 

5.1  KMP equity ownership 

As mentioned above, the Board took into consideration both shareholder and investor feedback in relation to equity 

ownership amongst its‟ Executives and introduced a STI deferral plan for KMPs in 2014. In line with market practice, a 

minimum shareholding obligation is not enforced. As mentioned above, the Board is reviewing the STI plan, STI deferral 

plan and LTI plan. 

6. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION 

The key principle underpinning Non-Executive Director (NED) remuneration is the need to attract high calibre Directors 
to direct the current business and into the future. 
 
The Board‟s policy is to periodically review its approach to NED remuneration and seeks independent advice to ensure 
the NED fees remain competitive with other similarly sized mining production companies listed on the ASX. 
  
No element of NEDs remuneration is linked to the performance of the Company as Directors‟ fees are the only form of 
remuneration for the NEDs. However, to create alignment with shareholders, NEDs are encouraged to hold equity 
securities in the Company. At the date of this report the majority of NEDs hold some form of equity securities in the 
Company. All Directors are subject to the Company‟s “Guidelines for Dealing in Securities”.  
 
The Company makes superannuation contributions on behalf of the NEDs in accordance with its statutory 
superannuation obligations, and each Director may sacrifice part of their fee for a further superannuation contribution by 
the Company.  
 
NED fees are not paid to the Managing Director or Executive Directors as the time spent on Board work and the 
responsibilities of Board membership are considered in determining the remuneration package provided as part of their 
normal employment conditions. The total remuneration paid to, or in respect of, each NED during the year is set out in 
this report. 
 
The remuneration structure of NEDs consists of both Director fees and committee fees. The Chairman of the Board 
does not receive any additional fees for his or her role on any committees. 
  
Given the market volatility, in 2015 each Director took a 15% Directors‟ fee reduction. The amounts set out below is the 
net amount after this reduction. In addition, the Chairman‟s fee was reduced from AU$341,560 to AU$180,000 on 11 
June 2015. 
 
Fees (including superannuation payments) following the fee reduction are as follows: 
 

Director Fees (including superannuation) $ 

Chairman to 11 June 341,560 

Chairman from 11 June 180,000 

Non-Executive Directors 115,276 
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Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee 
$ 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

$ 

Committee Chair 8,500 12,750 

Committee Member 4,250   6,376 

 

7. REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director of the Company and KMPs 

are: 

 
  

(1) Mr Sinclair‟s disclosure includes his reportable benefit for FBT. In the current year, disclosure of Director‟s and Officer‟s 
insurance has been prohibited under the terms of the Groups‟ insurance contract to disclose the premiums. In the prior year 
Directors and Officers insurance was disclosed.  

(2) Rights comprise of performance rights and share appreciation rights. 

Superannuation is paid on salaries, fees and STI.  

Long-term 

benefits

$

Share-based 

payments

$

Total

$

 % of 

remuneration 

performance 

based 

Salary & fees STI Short term 

compensated 

absences

Other (1) Super-

annuation

Termination 

benefit

Long service 

leave

Rights (2)  STI and 

Rights 

2015 12,736 - - - 1,210 - - - 13,946                         - 

2014 - - - - - - - - -                         - 

2015 115,672 - - - 10,989 - - - 126,661                         - 

2014 125,855 - - - 11,642 - - - 137,497                         - 

2015 131,267 - - - 12,470 - - - 143,737                         - 

2014 143,854 - - - 13,307 - - - 157,161                         - 

2015 112,977 - - - 10,733 - - - 123,710                         - 

2014 135,853 - - - 12,566 - - - 148,419                         - 

2015 85,922 - - - 8,163 - - - 94,085                         - 

2014 133,354 - - - 12,335 - - - 145,689                         - 

2015 55,540 - - - 5,276 - - - 60,816                         - 

2014 131,354 - - - 12,150 - - - 143,504                         - 

2015 29,108 - - - 3,077 - - - 32,185                         - 

2014 132,854 - - - 12,289 - - - 145,143                         - 

2015 350,758 - - - 33,322 - - - 384,080                         - 

2014 366,972 - - - 33,891 - - - 400,863                         - 

2015 671,184 - (4,011) - 58,793 - 11,604 (62,221) 675,349                  (9)% 

2014 763,108 151,121 (1,909) - 34,021 - 30,632 755,516 1,732,489                   52% 

Mark Hancock (Executive Director - Commercial up to 2 December 2014, appointed Chief Commercial Officer 2 December 2014)

2015 467,880 - (37,751) - 30,000 - 28,228 (18,343) 470,014                  (4)% 

2014 450,000 76,500 20,160 - 46,755 - 19,888 230,666 843,969                   36% 

2015 471,467 - (11,906) - 29,995 - 24,421 (18,002) 495,975                  (4)% 

2014 441,079 134,756 2,697 30,001 32,274 - 16,091 223,673 880,571                   41% 

2015 378,716 - 11,562 - 30,000 - - - 420,278                         - 

2014 176,466 41,594 14,592 - 9,747 - - - 242,399                   17% 

2015 - - - - - - - - -                         - 

2014 21,786 - - - 235 - - - 22,021                         - 

2015 182,521 - (3,344) - 31,998 282,299 - (174,326) 319,148                (55)% 

2014 412,000 105,060 3,696 - 45,155 - 803 210,559 777,273                   41% 

2015 3,065,748 - (45,450) - 266,026 282,299 64,253 (272,892) 3,359,984                   (8)% 

2014 3,434,535 509,031 39,236 30,001 276,367 - 67,414 1,420,414 5,776,998                   33% 

Geoff Simpson - Resigntation effective 2 December 2014

Kerry Sanderson AO - Resigntation effective 19 September 2014

Robert Wilson (Chief Development Officer - Redundancy effective 30 November 2014)

Total

Executive directors

David Flanagan - Chairman up to 11 June 2015, appointed Managaging Director 11 June 2015

Key Management Personnel

Anthony Walsh (Company Secretary - Resignation effective 2 July 2013)

Brian Lynn (Chief Financial Officer - Appointed 20 January 2014)

Ken Brinsden - Managing Director up to 11 June 2015, appointed Executive Director 11 June 2015

Jeremy Sinclair (Chief Operations Officer) 

Short-term employee benefits

$

Post-employment benefits

$

Non-executive directors

David Hannon - Resigntation effective 10 March 2015

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon) - Appointed as Director effective 6 May 2015. Appointed Chairmain effective 11 June 2015

Sook Yee Tai

Jeff Dowling 

David Smith - Resigntation effective 31 May 2015
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7.1  Short Term Incentives 
Performance income as a proportion of total compensation. 
Details of the Group‟s policy in relation to the proportion of remuneration that is performance related are discussed at 
section 3.1. In the financial year, no STIs were awarded. As the Company did not achieve the Profit Performance 
Gateway, the Corporate Component of the STI for the year was forfeited. In addition, the Board determined not to test 
the Personal Component of the STI given the financial performance of the Company during the financial year.  

7.2 Long Term Incentives 
Details of Performance Rights (PRs) and Share Appreciation Rights (SARs) over ordinary shares in Atlas Iron Limited, 
that were issued prior to the financial year 2015, that are held by Key Management Personnel at 30 June 2015 are 
detailed below and do not reflect any PRs or SARs vested or forfeited after 30 June 2015 as noted in section 4: 

Number of PRs PRs held at the 
beginning of year 

PRs Granted 
during 2015 

Forfeited Vested** Other* 
PRs at the end 

of year 

 1 July 2014     30 June 2015 

Executive Directors       

Ken Brinsden 1,205,028  -  (123,358) (94,032) -  987,638  

Executives       

Mark Hancock 368,223  -  (35,928) (27,386) -  304,909  

Robert Wilson* 336,225  -  (264,423) (24,683) (47,119) -  

Jeremy Sinclair 357,482  -  (33,078) (25,214) -  299,190  

Total 2,266,958  -  (456,787) (171,315) (47,119) 1,591,737  

 
* Redundancy effective 30 November 2014. PRs held as at that date. 
** Relates to the LTI awards issued which cover the period 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2014. 
 

Number of SARs SARs held at the 
beginning of year 

SARs 
Granted 

during 2015 
Forfeited Vested Other* 

SARs at the 
end of year 

 1 July 2014     30 June 2015 

Executive Directors       

Ken Brinsden 2,724,046  -  (421,052) -  -  2,302,994  

Executives       

Mark Hancock 833,934  -  (122,630) -  -  711,304  

Robert Wilson* 761,764  -  (657,038) -  (104,726) -  

Jeremy Sinclair 810,863  -  (112,902) -  -  697,961  

Total 5,130,607  -  (1,313,622) -  (104,726) 3,712,259  

 
* Redundancy effective 30 November 2014. SARs held as at that date. 

The table below provides further details of amounts vested under the LTI for the period FY 2011 to FY 2014:  

 
Shares issued on 

vesting/exercise of PRs 
Market price at vesting 

date 
Value of PRs vested 

 # of shares $ $ 

Executive Directors  
   

Ken Brinsden 94,032  0.63  59,240  

Executives    

Mark Hancock 27,386  0.63  17,253  

Robert Wilson* 24,683  0.63  15,550  

Jeremy Sinclair 25,214  0.63  15,885  

Total 171,315   107,928  

 
* Redundancy effective 30 November 2014 

The LTI rights were provided at no cost to the recipients. Valuation assumptions are disclosed in Note 4 of the financial 
statements. 

Subject to LTI targets being met, the rights granted to Executive Directors are only convertible into ordinary shares if, 
and only if, shareholder approval is obtained. Shareholder approval was obtained in October 2014 to issue LTIs to Mr 
Brinsden and Mr Hancock for the financial year, however as mentioned above, given the financial performance of the 
Company, the Board determined not to issue any LTIs during the financial year. 
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Modification of terms of equity settled share-based transactions 
No terms of options or rights over ordinary shares in Atlas Iron Limited have been altered or modified by the issuing 
entity during the year or the prior year.  

Board policy in relation to hedging unvested equity 
The Board limits employees from entering into transactions that limit the economic risk of participating in unvested 
employee entitlements. Each Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) option and rights is personal to the holder and is not 
transferable, transmissible, assignable or chargeable without permission of the Board. Without prior approval and 
subject to compliance with the Corporations Act 2001, Directors and key management personnel should not enter into 
agreements that provide lenders with rights over their interests in the Company‟s shares and options, such as the 
disposal of the Company‟s shares or options, that is the result of a secured lender exercising its right. Before entering 
into such arrangements, Directors and senior management must receive clearance from the Board. The ESOP rules 
state that an employee must not transfer, assign, dispose of or grant any security interests over or otherwise deal with 
any rights. 

Exercise of options granted as compensation 
During the reporting period no shares were issued to KMPs on the exercise of options previously granted as 
compensation. 

Analysis of options granted as compensation 
There were no options granted during the 2015 financial year. 

Analysis of movement in options 
There was no movement in the value of options over ordinary shares in Atlas Iron Limited during the year. 

7.3 Option holdings of key management personnel 
 

 
Balance at 

beginning of 
year 

Options 
Granted 

Options 
Exercised 

Options 
Lapsed**** 

Other Held at 

 1 July 2014    30 June 2015 

Directors       

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon)* -  -  -  -  -  -  

David Flanagan 2,500,000  -  -  (2,500,000) -  -  

David Hannon** 500,000  -  -  -  (500,000) -  

David Smith** 1,000,000  -  -  -  (1,000,000) -  

Sook Yee Tai 500,000  -  -  (500,000) -  -  

Jeff Dowling -  -  -  -  -  -  

Kerry Sanderson AO** -  -  -  -  -  -  

Geoff Simpson** -  -  -  -  -  -  

Ken Brinsden 750,000  -  -  (750,000) -  -  

Executives       

Mark Hancock 750,000  -  -  (750,000) -  -  

Robert Wilson*** -  -  -  -  -  -  

Jeremy Sinclair 350,000  -  -  (350,000) -  -  

Brian Lynn -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total 6,350,000  -  -  (4,850,000) (1,500,000) -  

 
* Appointed 6 May 2015 as a Director. Appointed 11 June 2015 as Chairman. 
** Resigned during the current financial year. 
*** Redundancy effective 30 November 2014. 
**** Relates to options granted between 1 July 2009 and 30 June 2011. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) continued 

7.4 Shareholdings of key management personnel  
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year 

Shares 
Purchased 

Shares sold 
Shares acquired 
on vesting of LTI 

Shares held at 
appointment/ 

departure 
Held at 

 1 July 2014        30 June 2015 

Directors       

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon)* -  -  -  -  8,100  8,100  

David Flanagan 2,840,000  -  -  -  -  2,840,000  

David Hannon** 804,968  -  -  -  (804,968) -  

David Smith** -  -  -  -  -  -  

Sook Yee Tai  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Jeff Dowling 125,000  -  -  -  -  125,000  

Kerry Sanderson AO** 52,447  -  -  -  (52,447) -  

Geoff Simpson** -  -  -  -  -  -  

Ken Brinsden 564,500  51,213  -  94,032  -  709,745  

Executives       

Mark Hancock 508,938  18,410  -  27,386  -  554,734  

Robert Wilson*** 1,000  -  -  24,683  (25,683) -  

Jeremy Sinclair -  -  -  25,214  -  25,214  

Brian Lynn 25,000  -  -  -  -  25,000  

Total 4,921,853  69,623  -  171,315  (874,998) 4,287,793  

 
* Appointed 6 May 2015 as a Director. Appointed 11 June 2015 as Chairman. 
** Resigned during the current financial year. 
*** Redundancy effective 30 November 2014. 

 
 
 
Remuneration report ends here. 
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DIRECTORS' MEETINGS  
 
Attendance of Directors‟ meetings held during the year are set out below: 

 
Directors’ 
Meetings 

Audit and 
Risk 

Committee 

Remuneration 
and 

Nomination 
Committee 

Nomination 
Committee 

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 

 A B A B A B A B A B 

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon) 
(appointed 6 May 2015) 

9 9         

David Flanagan 35 35   3 3 1 1 1 1 

Ken Brinsden 35 35         

Jeff Dowling 35 35 3 3 3 3     

Sook Yee Tai 33 35 1 1   1 1 1 1 

Kerry Sanderson AO (resigned 
19 September 2014) 

3 3   1 1 1 1 1 1 

Geoff Simpson (resigned 
2 December 2014) 

5 4 1 1       

Mark Hancock (resigned  
2 December 2014) 

5 5         

David Hannon (resigned 
10 March 2015) 

14 14 3 3   1 1   

David Smith (resigned 
31 May 2015) 

30 29   3 3 1 1   

 
A - Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year. 
B - Number of meetings attended.  
 

 
CORPORATE STRUCTURE  
The Group is an Australian listed public group limited by shares domiciled in Australia. The Group has prepared a 
consolidated financial report to include entities that it controlled during the financial years as shown in Note 33 of the 
financial statements. 
 
ROUNDING  
The Group is of the kind specified in ASIC class order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998. In accordance with the class order, 
amounts in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless specifically 
stated to be otherwise. 
 
AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE  
The auditor's independence declaration is set out on page 78 and forms part of the Directors‟ Report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES  
Non-audit services provided by the Group's auditor, KPMG, and associated entities, during the year ended 30 June 
2015 are disclosed in Note 29 to the financial statements. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to S298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

David Flanagan 

Managing Director 

Perth, 13 August 2015
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YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 
Notes 

2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

Revenue  718,474  1,097,617  

Operating costs 2 (889,739) (1,007,358) 

Gross (loss)/profit  (171,265) 90,259  

    

Other income  2,737  4,652  

Exploration and evaluation expense  (5,189) (9,042) 

Impairment loss  3 (980,371) (18,822) 

Share of loss of equity accounted investees  14 (3,587) (3,049) 

(Loss)/gain on listed investments  (687) 64  

Gain on financial instruments  11,575  2,580  

Depreciation and amortisation  (4,947) (4,960) 

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (1,071) (173) 

Administrative expenses 5 (24,888) (38,763) 

Other expenses 6 (62,249) (8,413) 

Results from operating activities  (1,239,942) 14,333  

Finance income  7 4,916  10,382  

Finance expense 7 (36,458) (35,205) 

(Loss)/gain on foreign exchange  7 (39,339) 37  

Net finance expense  (70,881) (24,786) 

Loss before income tax  (1,310,823) (10,453) 

Tax (expense)/benefit 8 (67,003) 24,705  

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  (1,377,826) 14,252  

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss    

Foreign currency translation differences – foreign operations  (79) (1,979) 

Share of associates‟ movements in foreign currency translation reserve  329  112  

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  250  (1,867) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO OWNERS OF THE GROUP 

 (1,377,576) 12,385  

(Loss)/profit attributable to:    

    Owners of the parent  (1,377,689) 17,437  

    Non-controlling interest  (137) (3,185) 

  (1,377,826) 14,252  

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit attributable to:    

    Owners of the parent  (1,377,450) 16,573  

    Non-controlling interest  (126) (4,188) 

  (1,377,576) 12,385  

(Loss)/profit per share    

Basic (loss)/profit per share (cents per share) 28 (150.08) 1.56  

Diluted (loss)/profit per share (cents per share) 28 (150.08) 1.54  

    
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes. 
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AT 30 JUNE 2015 

 
Notes 

2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 24(b) 73,305  264,242  

Trade and other receivables 10 23,973  78,165  

Prepayments 11 15,239  20,110  

Financial assets classified as held for trading  604  3,374  

Inventories 12 15,604  53,425  

Disposal group and assets held for sale 13 -  29,896  

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  128,725  449,212  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Other receivables 10 12,008  41,548  

Prepayments 11 6,875  17,395  

Investment in equity accounted investees 14 414  30,622  

Property, plant and equipment 15 129,076  143,843  

Intangibles 16 1,586  135,347  

Mine development costs 17 338,222  515,157  

Evaluation expenditure - reserve development  18 17,140  49,615  

Mining tenements capitalised 19 141,414  716,874  

Deferred tax asset 8 -  67,003  

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  646,735  1,717,404  

TOTAL ASSETS  775,460  2,166,616  

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 20 110,319  187,751  

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 21 3,581  17,251  

Employee benefits  1,769  4,434  

Provisions 22 7,214  3,928  

Disposal group liabilities held for sale 13 -  7,534  

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  122,883  220,898  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 20 4,000  -  

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 21 335,939  271,105  

Employee benefits  569  663  

Provisions 22 91,409  66,790  

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  431,917  338,558  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  554,800  559,456  

NET ASSETS  220,660  1,607,160  

EQUITY    

Share capital 23(a) 1,991,630  1,989,359  

Reserves 23(d) 29,682  29,912  

Disposal group reserves held for sale 13 -  (1,164) 

Accumulated losses  (1,810,738) (414,735) 

Other equity 23(f) 10,086  -  

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE PARENT  220,660  1,603,372  

Disposal group non-controlling interest held for sale 13 -  3,788  

TOTAL EQUITY  220,660  1,607,160  

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 

Share 
capital 

Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

Disposal 
group and 
asset held 

for sale 

Associates’ 

reserve 

Accumulated 
(losses) 

Other 

 Equity 

Total Disposal 
group non-
controlling 

interest 
held for 

sale 

Total 

equity 

 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2014 1,989,359  30,604  (1,164) (692) (414,735) -  1,603,372  3,788  1,607,160  

Total comprehensive loss for the year         

Loss for the year -  -  -  -  (1,377,689) -  (1,377,689) (137) (1,377,826) 

Total other comprehensive 
income/(loss)  

-  -  (90) 329  -  -  239  11  250  

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year, net of tax 

-  -  (90) 329  (1,377,689) -  (1,377,450) (126) (1,377,576) 

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Group        

Issue of ordinary shares from 
dividend reinvestment plan 

2,086  -  -  -  -  -  2,086  -  2,086  

Treasury shares 56  -  -  -  -  -  56  -  56  

Share-based payment 
transactions 

129  (559) -  -  -  -  (430) -  (430) 

Payment of dividends -  -  -  -  (18,314) -  (18,314) -  (18,314) 

Shares to be issued -  -  -  -  -  10,086  10,086  -  10,086  

Deconsolidation of disposal group 
held for sale 

-  -  1,254  -  -  -  1,254  (3,662) (2,408) 

Total transactions with owners 
of the Company 

2,271  (559) 1,254  -  (18,314) 10,086  (5,262) (3,662) (8,924) 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2015 1,991,630  30,045  -  (363) (1,810,738) 10,086  220,660  -  220,660  

          
 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014 

 

Share 
capital 

Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Disposal 
group  

reserves 
held for sale 

Associates‟ 

reserve 

Accumulated 
(losses) 

Total Disposal 
group non-
controlling 

interest 
held for 

sale 

Total 

equity 

 

 $‟000  $‟000  $‟000  $‟000  $‟000  $‟000  $‟000  $‟000  $‟000  

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2013 1,984,654  30,007  (188) -  (804) (408,320) 1,605,349  6,803  1,612,152  

Total comprehensive income for the year         

Profit/(loss) for the year -  -  -  -  -  17,437  17,437  (3,185) 14,252   

Total other comprehensive 
(loss)/income  

-  -  (976) 
-  

112  -  (864) (1,003) (1,867) 

Foreign currency translation 
reserve held for sale 

-  -  1,164  (1,164) -  -  -  -  -  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax 

-  -  188  (1,164) 112  17,437  16,573  (4,188) 12,385  

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Group        

Issue of ordinary shares from 
dividend reinvestment plan 

4,917  -  -  -  -  -  4,917  -  4,917  

Share-based payment 
transactions 

-  2,045  -  -  -  -  2,045  -  2,045  

Payment of dividends -  -  -  -  -  (27,291) (27,291) -  (27,291) 

Treasury shares (212) -  -  -  -  -  (212) -  (212) 

Transfers from share-based 
payments 

-  (1,448) -  -  -  1,448  -  -  -  

Loan forgiveness on acquisition of 

non-controlling interest 
-  -  -  

-  
-  1,991  1,991  1,173  3,164  

Total transactions with owners 
of the Company 

4,705  597  -  -  -  (23,852) (18,550) 1,173  (17,377) 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2014 1,989,359  30,604  -  (1,164) (692) (414,735) 1,603,372  3,788  1,607,160  

          
 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 
Notes 

2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Cash receipts from customers  725,882  1,096,618  

Payments to suppliers and employees  (790,095) (806,263) 

Interest received  2,315  7,888  

Payments for expenditure on exploration and evaluation activities  (5,189) (9,042) 

NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 24(a) (67,087) 289,201  

    

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments for property, plant and equipment   (15,234) (18,969) 

Payments for mine development  (82,007) (300,906) 

Payments for intangible assets  (411) (1,402) 

Payment for reserve development costs  (4,774) (32,041) 

Payments for interests in equity accounted investees  (250) (1,500) 

Loan to joint venture  (1,311) (1,741) 

Loan to joint operation partner  (6,636) (12,606) 

Net proceeds received from sale of tenements  528  437  

Payments for the acquisition of tenements  -  (119) 

Net proceeds from financial assets  1,020  1,565  

Proceeds from release of bank guarantees  21,248  2,590  

Proceeds from/(payments to) other entities including associated entities  1,788  (4,793) 

Stamp duty paid in relation to acquisition of tenements  (1,694) (18,911) 

Net proceeds from financial instruments  6,675  -  

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (81,058) (388,396) 

    

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Share issue costs   (1,744) -  

Repayment of Term Loan B  (3,394) (2,983) 

Net (repayments)/proceeds from pre-export finance  (14,304) 4,912  

Interest payments on borrowing facilities  (30,650) (27,502) 

Dividends paid  (16,229) (22,490) 

Payments for shares acquired by Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust  (219) (390) 

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (66,540) (48,453) 

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (214,685) (147,648) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July   264,242  416,922  

Transfer cash to disposal group held for sale  -  (331) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  23,748  (4,701) 

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24(b) 73,305  264,242  

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Atlas Iron Limited (the Company) is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly 
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). The consolidated financial statements of Atlas Iron Limited for the 
year ended 30 June 2015 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group or Atlas) and 
the Group‟s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities. The Group is a for-profit entity and its principal activity is 
the exploration, development and operation of mines in the Pilbara region in Western Australia.  

 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. These financial statements were 
approved by the Board on 13 August 2015. 

 

(a) Basis of preparation 
Statement of compliance 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 
2001. The financial report of the Group complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items 
measured at fair value: 

 share-based payment transactions; 

 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; and 

 derivative and other financial instruments.  

 
Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group‟s functional currency. 
The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998 and, in accordance with that Class 
Order, amounts in the Directors‟ Report and financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, 
unless otherwise stated. 
 
Going Concern 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the realisation of assets and 

the discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  

 

As at 30 June 2015, the Company has net assets of AU$220.7 million which have decreased since 30 June 2014 mainly 

as a result of operational losses and a non-cash impairment charge of AU$980.4 million, both of which were largely due to 

a declining iron ore price. The Company has positive net current assets as at 30 June 2015 of AU$5.8 million, which, if 

adjusted for the capital raising completed subsequent to year end increases to AU$74.1 million (after costs).   

 

As at 30 June 2015, the Company has drawn down its Term Loan B debt facility to US$268.1 million (equivalent to 

AU$349.1 million, based on the exchange rate of 0.7680), which matures on 10 December 2017 and remains in good 

standing. The Company‟s net debt position (cash and cash equivalents less drawn debt facilities) is AU$275.8 million as at 

30 June 2015 which is summarised as follows: 

 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Cash   73,305  264,242  

Debt  (349,121) (301,885) 

Net debt  (275,816) (37,643) 

 
The increase of AU$238.2 million in net debt during the year is due to a weakening in the AUD exchange rate (as the debt 
is repayable in US$) and a reduction in cash resulting primarily from: 

 operating cash out flows mainly due to a declining AUD iron ore price during the year, partially offset by 
reduced operating costs;  

 payment of interest and principal on financing facilities; 
 payment of dividends; and 
 investment in the completion of the Mt Webber Stage 2 development. 

The Company prepares rolling 12 month cash flow forecasts. The 12 month cash flow forecast to August 2016 (the 
forecast period), which includes the capital raising completed subsequent to year end, has a positive working capital 
balance throughout that period.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

The material assumptions adopted by the directors in the cash flow forecasts include: 

 Forecast iron ore price for the forecast period of between AU$67 and AU$77 per tonne (benchmark IODEX 
62% Fe CFR China). The USD 62% Fe CFR China price and the AU$:US$ foreign exchange rate, have been 
independently sourced. As at 12 August 2015, the IODEX 62% Fe CFR China price was AU$74 per tonne. 

 Estimated sale of 16.8 million tonnes for the 14 month period ended 31 August 2016. 
 Forecast cost savings based on the contractor collaboration Deed for the Abydos and Wodgina mines.  
 A restart at the Mt Webber mine in the September 2015 quarter (which has been achieved) targeting similar 

costs to those under the contractor collaboration Deed.  
 Implementation of the contractor collaboration Deed for the Abydos and Wodgina mines, which when 

combined with the Mt Webber mine, is expected to deliver a breakeven price of approximately US$50 per 
tonne (benchmark IODEX 62% Fe price CFR China), assuming an AUD:USD foreign exchange rate of 
0.7850, on a full-cash cost basis (which includes interest and sustaining capital), based on a production rate 
of 14-15 million tonnes per annum, which is expected to be achieved during the December 2015 quarter. 

 A significant contribution from the sale of lump product from both the Abydos and Mt Webber mines 
generating an expected premium to the standard fines product of Atlas.  

 Royalty relief following Atlas signing a Financial Assistance Agreement with the Western Australian 
Government, expected to provide a total cash flow benefit of approximately AU$23.0 million over the relief 
period. AU$12.6 million in respect of the December 2014 and March 2015 quarters was received on 3 August 
2015. Atlas‟ Royalty relief will be required to be repaid, without interest or premium, in seven equal quarterly 
instalments commencing 31 March 2016.   

 
The cash flow forecast to August 2016 is highly dependent upon the achievement of USD iron ore price and AUD:USD 
exchange rate forecasts and the achievement of forecast operating cost outcomes.  
 
A reduction to the Atlas adopted forecast price of US$10 (AU$13) per tonne (benchmark IODEX 62% Fe CFR China), 
would result in a net working capital position of approximately AU$30.0 million by August 2016, in the absence of further 
cost savings, sale of assets, additional equity or debt funding and assuming no change in underlying US$:AU$ exchange 
rate. 
 
Should the key assumptions of the cash flow forecast not be achieved, the Company may be required to source additional 
funds through debt or equity markets. In this regard the Directors are reviewing other funding options, such as unsecured 
debt, convertible notes and offtake agreements with financing elements. 
 
The Company was in compliance with its Term Loan B debt facility as at 30 June 2015.  
 
The ability of the Company to repay or reschedule its Term Loan B debt obligations in December 2017 is contingent on 
USD iron ore pricing and AUD:USD exchange rate outcomes, achievement of forecast cost outcomes and/or the ability of 
the Company to source additional funds through debt and equity markets. Adopting the assumptions set out above, Atlas 
estimates there will be a shortfall between the amount owing at the maturity date of the Term Loan B facility (December 
2017) and the forecast cash balance at that date. However, based on current forecasts and assumptions, the Directors 
believe that the shortfall can be refinanced or rescheduled prior to the maturity date under the Term Loan B facility.  
 
The ability to repay the Term Loan B facility at maturity will improve in the event of capital raisings or alternative debt 
funding, but will ultimately depend on prevailing market conditions, particularly AUD iron ore prices between now and the 
maturity date.  
 
The Directors believe that the cash flow forecasts are reasonable with respect to all material factors. On this basis the 
going concern basis of preparation has been adopted. Depending on the outcome of the future funding alternatives, were 
the recent volatility experienced in the AU$ iron ore price to continue and result in a significant and sustained decline from 
forecast prices to December 2017, there would likely be significant uncertainty in the Company‟s ability to refinance or 
reschedule the Term Loan B facility at its maturity and therefore its ability to continue as a going concern.  

 
(b) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Atlas Iron Limited and its subsidiaries 
together with the Group‟s share of joint arrangements and associates accounted for as described below. 

 
(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements all intergroup balances and transactions, income, expenses, 
unrealised gains/losses and profit or loss, resulting from intergroup transactions, have been eliminated in full. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of acquisition in the Company‟s financial statements. 
 
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree‟s identifiable net assets at the 
acquisition date. Changes in the Groups‟ interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. 
 

(ii) Investment in associates and joint ventures 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally 
the case where the Group has significant voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 
 
A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. Joint control is defined as the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities 
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the 
equity method.  
 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognise the Group‟s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group‟s 
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Goodwill relating 
to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested 
for impairment. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the 
carrying amount of the investment.  
 
The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 
 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on 
its investment in its associate or joint venture. An impairment loss is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of 
the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, and is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. 
 
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or 
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds 
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

(iii) Investment in joint operation 
A joint operation is an arrangement in which the parties with joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to that arrangement. In respect of its interest in a joint operation, a joint operator must recognise al l of 
its assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, including its relative share of jointly controlled assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses. 
 
(c) Changes in accounting policy 
Atlas has adopted all of the new and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are 
relevant to the operations of Atlas and effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 
 
The Group applied for the first time AASB 2013-3 Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets, AASB 1031 
Materiality and AASB 2014-1 Annual improvements to IFRS’s 2010-2012 Cycle. Several other amendments apply for 
the first time in 2015 however they do not impact the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
The nature and the impact of certain new standards and amendments are described below: 
 

(i) AASB 2013-3 Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets: adopted on 1 July 2014.  
AASB 2013-3 Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets make amendments to the 
disclosures required by AASB 136 Impairment of assets which: 

 Remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of all cash generating units (CGU) 
that contain goodwill or identifiable assets with indefinite lives if there has been no impairment. 
This disclosure was introduced with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement; 

 Require disclosure of the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU when an impairment loss has 
been recognised or reversed; 

 Requires detailed disclosure of how the fair value less costs of disposal has been measured 
when an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. 

 
As a result of adopting AASB 2013-3 Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets, the Group 
has amended its impairment disclosures in Note 3 to reflect the updated disclosure requirements.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(ii) AASB 1031 Materiality: adopted on 1 July 2014.  
    

The revised AASB 1031 Materiality is an interim standard that cross-references to other Standards and 
the Framework (issued December 2013) that contain guidance on materiality. AASB 1031 Materiality will 
be withdrawn when references to AASB 1031 Materiality in all Standards and Interpretations have been 
removed. AASB 2014-1 Part C issued in June 2014 makes amendments to eight Australian Accounting 
Standards to delete their references to AASB 1031 Materiality.  
 
Application of AASB 1031 Materiality has not impacted the financial statements of the Group.  

 
(iii) AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 

Financial instruments contains three main parts which make amendments to a number of standards and 
interpretations.   

 Part A of the amendment makes consequential amendments arising from the issuance of AASB 
CF 2013-1, which was adopted in the previous reporting period.  

 Part B makes amendments to particular Australian Accounting Standards to delete references 
to AASB 1031 and also minor editorial amendments to various other standards adopted on 1 
July 2014. 

 Part C makes amendments to a number of Australian Accounting Standards, incorporating 
Chapter 6 Hedge Accounting into AASB 9 Financial Instruments applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015.  

 
Parts A and B of this amendment have been adopted by Atlas and have not materially impacted the 
financial statements of the Group. Atlas will continue to prepare financial statements and apply materiality 
in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. 

Part C of this amendment relates to incorporation of hedge accounting into AASB 9. Atlas has not elected 
to early adopt this section. Adoption of this part of the amendment is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Group as there is currently no hedge accounting policy in place. 

 
(iv) AASB 2014-1 Annual improvements to IFRS’s 2010-2012 Cycle: adopted on 1 July 2014.  

 
This standard sets out amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the issuance by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
Annual Improvements process. The following items are addressed by this standard: 

 AASB 2 Share-Based Payments - Clarifies the definition of 'vesting conditions' and 'market 
condition' and introduces the definition of 'performance condition' and 'service condition'. 

 AASB 3 Business Combinations - Clarifies the classification requirements for contingent 
consideration in a business combination by removing all references to AASB 137 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 AASB 8 Operating Segments - Requires entities to disclose factors used to identify the entity's 
reportable segments when operating segments have been aggregated. An entity is also 
required to provide a reconciliation of total reportable segment assets to the entity's total assets.  

 AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment and AASB 138 Intangibles - Clarifies that the 
determination of accumulated depreciation does not depend on the selection of the valuation 
technique and that it is calculated as the difference between the gross and net carrying 
amounts.  

 AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures - Defines a management entity providing KMP services as 
a related party of the reporting entity. The amendments added an exemption from the detailed 
disclosure requirements in paragraph 17 of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures for KMP 
services provided by a management entity. Payments made to a management entity in respect 
of KMP services should be separately disclosed. 

 
Adoption of these standards has not had a significant impact on the Group‟s financial statements. The 
change in definition under AASB 2 Share-Based Payments to 'performance condition' does not impact 
the valuation or share-based payment expense as the conditions included within these plans meet the 
definition of a 'performance condition'. Application of other amendments of AASB 2014-1 Annual 
improvements to IFRS’s 2010-2012 Cycle has not materially impacted the financial statements of the 
Group, however, additional disclosures may be required in future periods, if applicable.  

 
(d) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future period affected. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Ore reserve and resource estimates 
Ore reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from the Group‟s mining 
properties. The Group estimates its ore reserves based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons 
relating to the geological judgements to interpret the data. The estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors 
such as estimates of commodity prices, future capital requirements, production costs and foreign exchange rates along 
with geological assumptions and judgements made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body. 

The Group estimates and reports ore reserves under the principles contained within the Australasian Code for 
Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (Revised 2012), known as the JORC Code, which 
is prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia. Changes in the reserve or resource estimates 
may impact upon the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets, mine properties, property, plant and 
equipment, provision for rehabilitation, and depreciation and amortisation charges. 

Units of production depreciation 
Estimated recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation and/or amortisation of mine specific assets. 
This results in a depreciation/amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life of mine 
production. Each item‟s life, which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and to present 
assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the asset is located. These  
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates 
of future capital expenditure. Refer to Note 1(j) for the accounting policy on production stripping. 

Provision for rehabilitation costs 
The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. Significant estimates and assumptions are 
made in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that will affect the ultimate 
liability payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological 
changes, regulatory changes, cost increases and changes in discount rates (2015: 2.55% (2014: 3.54%)). Those 
uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision at 
balance date represents management‟s best estimate of the present value of the future rehabilitation costs required. 

Deferred taxation 
Deferred income tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Production start date 
The Group assesses the stage of each mine development project to determine when a mine moves into the production 
stage. The criteria used to assess the start date of a mine are determined based on the unique nature of each mine 
development project. The Group considers various relevant criteria to assess when the mine is substantially complete, 
ready for its intended use and moves into the production phase. Some of the criteria include: 

 completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine plant and equipment; 

 ability to process iron ore in saleable form; and 

 ability to sustain ongoing mining and processing of iron ore. 
 

When a mine development project moves into the production stage, the capitalisation of certain mine development costs 
ceases and costs are either regarded as inventory or expensed, except for costs related to mining asset additions or 
improvements and mineable reserve development, which are capitalised. It is also at this point that 
depreciation/amortisation commences. 
 
Impairment of assets 
The Group assesses each asset or cash generating unit (CGU) (excluding goodwill, which is assessed annually 
regardless of indicators) at each reporting period to determine whether any indication of impairment exists. Where an 
indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered to be the 
higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. These assessments require the use of estimates and 
assumptions such as long-term commodity prices (considering current and historical prices, price trends and related 
factors), discount rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, closure and rehabilitation costs, exploration 
potential, reserves and operating performance (which includes production and sales volumes). These estimates and 
assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. Therefore, there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will 
impact these projections, which may impact the recoverable amount of assets and/or CGUs. Recoverable amount is 
determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is determined as the amount that 
would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm‟s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. 
Value in use is determined as the present value of estimated future cash flows arising from the continued use of the 
asset. Cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/CGU. The key assumptions used to determine the 
recoverable amount for the different CGUs, including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed and further explained in Note 
16. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(e) Determination of fair values 
A number of the Group‟s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses market 
observable data as far as possible.  
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value 
measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by 
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use. 
 
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques as follows: 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly 
 Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as 
the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.  
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred. Refer to Note 32. 
 
(f) Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer elects to measure the components of 
non-controlling interest that are present ownership interests that entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity‟s net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value, or at the proportionate share of the acquiree‟s 
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in business combination expenses. When  
the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date.  
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer‟s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date (being the date the acquirer gains control) 
through profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be 
recognised in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement either in profit or loss or 
as change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be 
remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances, where the contingent consideration 
does not fall within the scope of AASB 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate AASB. 
 
Goodwill is included in intangible assets and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the fair value of the identifiable net 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of 
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group‟s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group‟s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain 
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative value 
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

Where the Group acquires interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes a business, the acquisition 
method of accounting is adopted. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(g) Property, plant and equipment 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from 
these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received 
from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their 
present values in determining recoverable amounts. The cost of plant and equipment constructed within the Group 
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable 
overheads that are directly attributable to the construction of plant and equipment.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation 
Land is not depreciated but is subject to impairment. 

Depreciation of buildings is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net costs over the expected useful 
life. The depreciation rate for buildings is between 5% and 10% per annum. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net costs of each asset 
over the expected useful life or the estimated life of the associated mine, if shorter. The rates vary between 5% and 
40% per annum. 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

(h) Impairment of assets 
Financial assets 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset and that effect can be estimated reliably. 

The Group considers evidence for impairment at the specific asset and collective level of assets with similar risk 
characteristics. An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
asset‟s original interest rate. All impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.  

Non-financial assets 
The carrying amount of the Group‟s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred taxes, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset‟s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and any intangible assets that have indefinite lives are tested 
annually for impairment. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating unit). 
 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then 
to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset‟s carrying amount does not exceed that carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(i) Exploration and evaluation costs / mining tenements capitalised 
Exploration and evaluation costs on an area of interest are written off in the year they are incurred if there is no 
expectation of commercial viability , apart from acquisition costs, which are carried forward where right of tenure of the 
area of interest is current, and they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful development and 
exploitation of the area of interest, or, where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not 
reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. Evaluation 
expenditure on an area of interest, where commercial viability has been established, is capitalised.  
 
Where an area of interest is abandoned, or the Directors decide that it is not commercially viable, any accumulated 
costs in respect of that area are written off in the financial period the decision is made. Each area of interest is also 
reviewed at the end of each accounting period and accumulated costs written off to the extent that they will not be 
recoverable in the future.  
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to development costs once technical feasibility and commercial 
viability of an area of interest is demonstrable. Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment, and any 
impairment loss is recognised, prior to being reclassified. 
 
The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and commercial 
exploitation, or alternatively sale of the respective area of interest. 
 
Impairment testing of exploration and evaluation assets 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility 
and commercial viability or facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when any of the following facts and circumstances exist: 

 The term of exploration license in the specific area of interest has expired during the reporting period or will 
expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed; 

 Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area are 
not budgeted nor planned; 

 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of 
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such activities 
in the specified area; or 

 Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the 
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful 
development or by sale. 

Where a potential impairment is indicated, an assessment is performed for each CGU which is no larger than the area 
of interest. The Group performs impairment testing in accordance with accounting policy Note 1(h). 

(j) Development costs 
Mine and port development 
Development expenditure relates to costs incurred to access a mineral resource. It represents those costs incurred after 
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been demonstrated and an 
identified mineral reserve is being prepared for production (but is not yet in production). 
 
Significant factors considered in determining the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project are the 
completion of a feasibility study, the existence of sufficient proven and probable reserves to proceed with development 
and approval by the Board of directors to proceed with development of the project. 
 
Development costs include direct and indirect costs associated with mine infrastructure, pre-production development 
costs, development excavation, project execution costs and other subsurface expenditure pertaining to that area of 
interest. Costs related to surface plant and equipment and any associated land and buildings are accounted for as 
property, plant and equipment. The definition of an area of interest is the area serviced by a given mining operations 
centre. 
 
Overburden and other mine waste materials are often removed during the initial development of a mine in order to 
access the mineral deposit. This activity is referred to as development stripping (i.e. overburden and other waste 
removal). The directly attributable costs (inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure) are capitalised as 
development costs. Capitalisation of development stripping costs ceases when commercial production commences. 
 
Development costs are carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the development phase until commercial 
production commences. When commercial production commences, carried forward development costs are amortised 
on a units of production basis over the life of economically recoverable reserves of the area of interest. The Group 
assesses future capital costs required to bring existing reserves into production and includes an estimate of these costs 
in the base when calculating amortisation expense. 
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Development assets are assessed for impairment if an impairment trigger is identified. For the purposes of impairment 
testing, development assets are allocated to CGUs to which the development activity relates.  
 
Production stripping 
Removal of waste material normally continues after commercial production commences and throughout the life of a 
mine. This activity is referred to as production stripping. The costs of production stripping are capitalised. 
 
Where a mine operates several open pits that are regarded as separate operations for the purpose of mine planning, 
production stripping costs are accounted for separately by reference to the ore from each separate pit. If however, the 
pits are highly integrated for the purpose of mine planning, the second and subsequent pits are regarded as extensions 
of the first pit in accounting for stripping costs. The amount of stripping costs deferred is based on the ratio of waste 
tonnes mined and ore tonnes mined. Amortisation of the production stripping asset takes place on a unit of production 
based on the identified component of the ore body which is mined. An identifiable component is a specific volume of the 
ore body that is made more accessible by the stripping activity. Significant judgement is required to identify and define 
these components, and also to determine the expected volumes (e.g. tonnes) of waste to be stripped and ore to be 
mined in each of these components. The Group assesses future production stripping costs required to bring existing 
reserves into production and includes an estimate of these costs in the base when calculating amortisation expense. 
 
(k) Care and maintenance  
When a mine moves into the care and maintenance stage the costs of maintaining the mine are expensed in the period 
as incurred unless there are future economic benefits for other operating mines.   

 
(l) Leases 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the 
asset, but not the legal ownership, transfer to the Group, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised 
by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property, plant and 
equipment or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease 
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period. Leased 
assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
recognised in the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

(m) Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other  
comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current 
tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for: 

 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates and jointly controlled entities to 
the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.  
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax 
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realised simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised. 
 
The Group and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group. As a consequence, all 
members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is 
Atlas Iron Limited. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial 
position are shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for 
the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 
(o) Employee benefits 
Employee benefits are expensed in the profit or loss and provisions are made for benefits accumulated as a result of 
employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, long 
service leave and related on-costs such as superannuation, workers compensation and payroll tax. The Group‟s 
superannuation is a defined contribution plan under which fixed contributions are made to a superannuation fund with 
no further legal or constructive obligation to pay.  
 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term bonus or profit sharing plans if the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, 
and the obligation can be measured reliably. 
  
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled 
within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which 
are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on corporate 
bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability, are used. 

Share-based payments 
The Group provides benefits to employees (including Executive Directors) of the Group in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares („equity-settled 
transactions‟). Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Long-Term Incentive Plan 
(subject to shareholder approval for Executive Directors), the Employee Share Plan and the Salary Sacrifice and 
Matched Share Plan. Information relating to these plans is set out in Note 4. 
 
During the previous financial year, key management personnel and selected direct reports were offered performance 
rights and share appreciation rights under the Long-Term Incentive Plan. The fair value of the awards granted is 
measured using a combination of a Black-Scholes option pricing model and a Monte Carlo simulation model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the awards were granted. Measurement inputs include share price on 
measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility 
adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments 
(based on historical experience and general rights holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate 
(based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not 
taken into account in determining fair value. 
 
The cost of the equity-settled option transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date 
on which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transaction is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled 
to the award („vesting date‟). 
 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects: 

(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and 
(ii) the number of options and rights that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest.  

This opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood 
of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair 
value at grant date. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, no further expense is recognised. However, if a new 
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the 
cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award. 
 
The Employee Share Plan is administered by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust, which is consolidated in accordance 
with the principals in Note 1(b). 
 
Under the Employee Share Plan, shares issued by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust vest immediately on grant date. 
On this date, the market value of the shares issued is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The Salary Sacrifice and Matched Share Plan allow participants to salary sacrifice certain amounts per annum from 
their pre-tax salary. Atlas will match the salary sacrifice shares on a one for one basis, with shares purchased by the 
Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust.  
 
The matched shares do not vest until the participants have completed a specified service condition, management deem 
that services are to be rendered over a three year period. The participants become unconditionally entitled to the shares 
at the end of the three year period. The employees have no beneficial entitlement to the matched shares until they are 
awarded. 
 
Service vesting conditions (which are non-market conditions) and non-market performance conditions are not 
incorporated into the grant date fair value calculation of the Matched Share Plan, instead they are taken into 
consideration when estimating the number of awards that will vest. The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest 
is reviewed at each balance sheet date up to the vesting date, at which point the estimate is adjusted to reflect the 
actual awards issued. No adjustment is made after the vesting date even if the awards are forfeited or not exercised. 
The cumulative expense recognised for the matched share transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects 
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the proportion of the awards that are expected to ultimately vest. 
 
Matched shares are subject to good and bad leaver provisions. Matched shares will be forfeited in regards to bad 
leavers. Bad leavers include; participants that cease to be employed by the Group via voluntary resignation, dismissal 
for cause, fraud, criminal offence or purported dealing. Good leavers include participants that cease to be employed by 
the Group by reason of redundancy, death, incapacitation or any other reason determined by the Board. The expense 
recognised for good leavers is accelerated as the shares vest immediately and are no longer subject to the 3 year 
service condition or trading restrictions. 
 
(p) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Group recognises revenue when 
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group‟s activities. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably 
measurable until all material contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when persuasive evidence, usually in the 
form of an executed sales agreement, or an arrangement exists, indicating there has been a transfer of risks and 
rewards to the customer, no further work or processing is required by the Group, the quantity and quality of the goods 
has been determined with reasonable accuracy, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably 
assured. This is generally when title passes. The majority of the Group‟s sales agreements specify that title passes 
when the product is delivered to the destination specified by the customer, which is typically the vessel on which the 
product will be shipped. In practical terms, revenue is generally recognised on the bill of lading date, which is the date 
the commodity is delivered to the shipping agent. These sales agreements also allow for an adjustment to the sales 
price based on a survey of the goods by the customer (an assay for mineral content), therefore recognition of the sales 
revenue is based on the most recently determined estimate of product specifications. Revenue is not reduced for 
royalties and other taxes payable from the Group‟s production. 
 
Provisional values are recognised on cargos which are provisionally priced at the date of sale. Adjustments to the sale 
price then occur subsequent to the date of sale based on movements in quoted market prices on which the final price is  
based, with adjustments reflected in sales and trade receivables. The period between provisional invoicing and final 
pricing is typically between 30 and 120 days. The revenue adjustment which is embedded within the provisionally priced 
sale arrangements is measured at fair value and is re-estimated continuously until final pricing is determined. Fair value 
adjustments, estimated by reference to forward market prices, are recognised as an adjustment to revenue.  
 
(q) Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received. 
 
Repurchase and re-issue of ordinary shares (treasury shares)  
Own equity instruments that are re-acquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost including directly attributable 
incremental costs (net of income taxes) and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of Atlas‟ own 
equity instruments. Any difference between the consideration received and the carrying amount, if reissued, is 
recognised in the share-based payments reserve. Shares held by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust are disclosed as 
treasury shares and are deducted from contributed equity. 
 
(r) Earnings per share (EPS) 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic EPS is calculated as the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Group, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for any bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted EPS adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic EPS to take into account the after income tax effect 
of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number 
of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares (share 
options granted to employees). 
 
(s) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of six months or less. 
 
(t) Rehabilitation provision 
The Group records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to restore 
operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of these restoration activities includes 
dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste 
sites and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas. The obligation generally arises when the asset is 
installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the production location. When the liability is initially recognised, the 
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over 
time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current 
market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income as a finance cost. Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs are 
recognised as additions or charges to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability when they occur. 
 
(u) Inventories 
Iron ore stockpiles are physically surveyed or estimated and valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and 
costs of selling final product. 
 
Cost is determined by the weighted average method and comprises direct purchase costs and an appropriate portion of 
fixed and variable overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation, incurred in converting materials into finished 
goods. Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Any provision of obsolescence is 
determined by reference to specific items of stock. A regular review is undertaken to determine the extent of any 
provision for obsolescence. 
 
(v) Assets held for sale 
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is considered 
highly probable that they will be recovered principally through sale rather than continued use. Such assets, or disposal 
groups, are measured at the lower of their carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on 
disposal groups is allocated first to goodwill and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except 
that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets or employee benefits. Impairment losses on 
initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains and losses on re-measurement are recognised in profit or 
loss. Whilst classified as held-for-sale, property, plant and equipment, intangibles and mine development are no longer 
amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted. 
 
(w) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired by the Group, such as port access rights, software and licences that have a finite life are 
recorded at cost or fair value in business combinations less accumulated amortisation or impairment charges.  
Amortisation is charged over the useful life of the finite asset according to consumption of benefits. 
 
(x) Port access prepayments 
Port access prepayments are initially recognised at cost and amortised over the period of the benefits obtained. 
 
(y) Segment reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group‟s other 
components. All operating segments‟ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors include items directly attributable to a segment. 
 
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill. 
 
(z) Finance income and finance costs 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income, changes in the fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss and gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest 
income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on financial assets. 
 
(aa) Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on 
monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at 
the exchange rate at the end of the year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 
measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
(bb) Financial instruments 
Non-derivative financial assets 
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Derivative financial assets 
The Group has the following financial assets: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as 
such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages 
such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group‟s 
documented risk management or investment strategy. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss comprise equity securities that otherwise would have 
been classified as available for sale and embedded derivatives. 
 
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments. 
 
Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their 
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not 
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are initially measured at 
fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured with changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss. Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as 
financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.  

 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses.  
 
Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. 
 
(cc) Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not adopted 
The standards and interpretations relevant to Atlas that have not been early adopted are: 
 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments: applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018.  
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This standard includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets resulting 
from the first part of Phase 1 of the project to replace AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.  
 
An assessment of the Group‟s financial assets and liabilities was performed to determine whether the 
change in standard would affect the classification and measurement of financial instruments currently 
held. The new standard is not expected to impact the measurement of Atlas‟ financial assets and 
liabilities. Additional disclosure requirements will be incorporated on adoption of the standard. 
 

(ii) AASB15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  
 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which replaced IAS 11 
Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations. The AASB issued the Australian 
equivalent of IFRS 15, being AASB 15, in December 2014. Currently, these standards are effective for 
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2017. Early application is permitted however 
the IASB and the AASB have proposed a one year deferral to IFRS 15/AASB 15, which if approved, 
would move the effective date to annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2018. 
 
The core principle of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is that an entity recognises 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity 
recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:  

(i)  Identify the contract(s) with a customer  

(ii)  Identify the performance obligations in the contract  
(iii) Determine the transaction price  
(iv)  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract  
(v)  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation  

The Group has completed an assessment of revenue recognition on adoption of this standard and its 
impact is expected to be limited. 
 

(iii) AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 
in Joint Operations: applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016. 
 
AASB 2014-3 amends AASB 11 Joint Arrangements to provide guidance on the accounting for 
acquisitions of interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes a business. The amendments 
require:  

 The acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business, 
as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations, to apply all of the principles on business 
combinations accounting in AASB 3 and other Australian Accounting Standards except for 
those principles that conflict with the guidance in AASB 11 Joint Arrangements; and; 

 The acquirer to disclose the information required by AASB 3 and other Australian 

Accounting Standards for business combinations. 
Adoption of this amendment will not result in a material impact on the Group‟s financial statements as the 
amendment is consistent with the Group‟s current accounting policy. 
 

 (iv)   AASB 2014-4 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation: applicable to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016. 

 
AASB 116 Property Plant and Equipment and AASB 138 Intangible Assets both establish the principle 
for the basis of depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits of an asset. The IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-based methods to 
calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate because revenue generated by an activity that 
includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the economic 
benefits embodied in the asset. The amendment also clarified that revenue is generally presumed to be 
an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in an 
intangible asset.  
 
Currently the Group does not have a revenue-based policy to calculate the depreciation of an asset and 
therefore adoption of this standard is expected not to impact the financial statements of the Group. 

 
(dd) Comparative amounts 

Certain comparative disclosures have been reclassified to conform to the current year‟s presentation. 
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2. OPERATING COSTS 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Mining and processing   (224,590) (262,341) 

Haulage  (203,361) (173,762) 

Port *  (128,859) (120,286) 

Shipping   (122,411) (139,058) 

Royalties  (55,842) (92,011) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (112,846) (202,933) 

Inventory writedown  (29,769) (10,017) 

Other operating costs  (12,061) (6,950) 

  (889,739) (1,007,358) 

 
* Port costs include the amortisation of contributions made to the Port Hedland Port Authority. Refer to Note 11. 
 

3. IMPAIRMENT LOSS 
 
The Group assesses whether there are indicators that assets, or groups of assets, may be impaired at each reporting 
date.   
 
The following impairment indicators were identified during the year ended 30 June 2015: 

 Significant reduction in the US dollar iron ore price, partially offset by the weakening Australian dollar 
exchange rate during the year, which impacts the cash flows capable of being generated by the Company‟s 
mining assets; and  

 The widening gap between the Group‟s net asset book value and its market capitalisation until the date on 
which Atlas shares were suspended on 7 April 2015. 
 

Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made. Atlas have made an 
assessment of the recoverable amount of its assets as at 31 December 2014 and 30 June 20151. 

 
Total impairment losses recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 were as follows:  
 

  20151 2014  

   $’000  $‟000  

Disposal group and assets held for sale (Note 13)  (13,189) (7,633) 

Leasehold improvements  (2,278) (1,011) 

Investment in equity accounted investee  (28,274) (7,000) 

Other receivables (port assets)  (23,701) -  

Mine and reserve development assets  (202,266) -  

Property, plant and equipment  (7,003) -  

Mining tenements capitalised  (574,253) (3,178) 

Intangibles (port assets)  (68,630) -  

Goodwill  (60,777) -  

Impairment loss   (980,371) (18,822) 

 
1 The assessment in the second half of the year was performed at 30 April 2015 when determining the pro forma statement of financial 

position included in the Company‟s Prospectus dated 11 June 2015. As at 30 June 2015, there have been no significant changes to the 

underlying assumptions and forecasts included within this assessment. 
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3. IMPAIRMENT LOSS (CONTINUED) 
 

Following is a breakdown of the impairment loss by asset grouping:  

 

  20151 2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Horizon 1 mining properties  (176,951) -  

Horizon 2 projects  (606,571) (3,178) 

Goodwill and port assets  (179,482) -  

Disposal group and assets held for sale (Note 13)  (13,189) (7,633) 

Other  (4,178) (8,011) 

Impairment loss  (980,371) (18,822) 

 
1 The assessment in the second half of the year was performed at 30 April 2015 when determining the pro forma statement of financial 

position included in the Company‟s Prospectus dated 11 June 2015. As at 30 June 2015, there have been no significant changes to the 

underlying assumptions and forecasts included within this assessment. 

 

Horizon 1 mining properties 

Atlas‟ Horizon 1 mining properties relate to the cash generating unit representing assets and liabilities contained within 
its current operating mines (Abydos, Wodgina and Mt Webber) and does not have goodwill allocated to it. During the 
year ended 30 June 2015, Atlas recognised an impairment loss for its Horizon 1 mining properties of $176,951,000 
(property, plant and equipment of $7,003,000 and mine and reserve development assets of $169,948,000). The 
impairment was recognised in the first half of the 2015 financial year. 

The recoverable amount of the Horizon 1 mining properties was determined using life-of-mine value in use calculations 
based on cash flow projections from life of mine financial forecasts and mine plans based on current reserves.  
 
Key assumptions contained in cash flow projections are based on external sources of information where available, or 
reflect past experience, and include:  

 forecast USD iron ore price and foreign exchange rates (based on the most recent external economic 
forecasters); 

 published reserve statements;  

 operating and capital cost estimates utilising mine plans; 

 inflation applied at 2.5% per annum beyond the period covered by Atlas‟ most recent forecasts; and 

 a nominal post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections of 11% (June 2014: 11%).  
 

A key component of the cash flow projections is the revenue assumptions utilised. A summary of the externally sourced 
forecast USD iron ore price and foreign exchange rate assumption ranges (real, based on external economic 
forecasters) utilised in determining the recoverable amount of its Horizon 1 mining properties are detailed below: 
 

 30 June 2015* 31 December 2014 

 Assumption 
CFR 62% Fe 

$USD/DMT 
  AUD/USD 

CFR 62% Fe 
$USD/DMT 

AUD/USD 

Not later than one year 51 - 59  0.79 – 0.80 62 - 70 0.77 – 0.82 

Later than one year and not later than five years 57 - 77  0.80 – 0.86 77 - 89 0.80 – 0.85 

More than five years 75 - 81  0.81 – 0.82 89 - 98 0.81 – 0.82 

 
* The forecast pricing assumptions do not include the premium that Atlas forecasts to receive on its lump product.  
 
Horizon 2 projects 
Atlas‟ Horizon 2 projects relate predominantly to the McPhee Creek and South East Pilbara projects. During the year 
ended 30 June 2015, Atlas recognised an impairment loss for its Horizon 2 projects of $606,571,000 (mining tenements 
capitalised of $574,286,000 and mine and reserve development assets of $32,285,000). $461,571,000 and 
$145,000,000 of the impairment loss was recognised in the first and second halves of the 2015 financial year, 
respectively.  
 
The recoverable amount of Horizon 2 projects was determined using a fair value less cost to sell basis.  
 
When considering any fair value less cost to sell basis in determining the recoverable amount of Horizon 2 projects the 
Company has regard to implied valuations per reserve and resource tonnes of comparable projects. The group of 
comparable projects is included in the comparative group where they hold hematite iron ore projects at a similar stage 
and size within the Pilbara to the Group‟s. The implied valuations per reserve and resource tonne valuations have been 
calculated using publicly available information and the share price of the relevant company at the point of testing. This is 
considered to be a level three valuation technique within the fair value hierarchy. 
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3. IMPAIRMENT LOSS (CONTINUED) 
 
Goodwill and port assets 
For impairment testing, goodwill and port assets are allocated to the Group‟s singular operating segment. 
Atlas recognised an impairment loss for goodwill and port assets of $179,482,000 (goodwill of $60,777,000, intangibles 
of $68,630,000, other receivables of $23,701,000 and investment in equity accounted investee of $26,374,000). The 
impairment was recognised in the first half of the 2015 financial year. 

The recoverable amount was measured using a combination of life-of-mine value in use calculations of Horizon 1 
mining properties and Horizon 2 projects based on discounted future cash flow and fair value, utilising other valuation 
methodologies including resource multiples (refer to Horizon 1 mining properties and Horizon 2 projects above). 

Sensitivity 

 
Horizon 1 mining properties 
The effect of a reasonably possible change as at 30 June 2015, in the following key assumptions, in isolation to each 
other, to the life-of-mine value in use calculations (net present value) of the Horizon 1 mining properties, are detailed 
below: 
 

 Assumption 

Impact on Value 

in Use 

$’000  

Impairment 

 

$’000  

$5 per tonne change in USD iron ore pricing 133,000  *-  

$10 per tonne change in USD iron ore pricing  281,000  **115,000  

$5 per tonne change in AUD operating costs 155,000  *-  

100 basis points change in discount rate 26,000  *-  

 
* No impairment of the carrying amount of the Horizon 1 mining properties due to headroom remaining in the carrying value. 

** Impairment of the carrying amount of the Horizon 1 mining properties should the USD iron ore price decline by $10 per tonne.  

Whilst the impact of each reasonably possible change is shown in isolation, it is possible that a change in one key 
assumption may be offset by a change in another key assumption. 
 
Horizon 2 projects 
As at 30 June 2015, the effect of a reasonably possible change in the following key assumption, in isolation, to the fair 
value less cost to sell calculations for the Horizon 2 projects are detailed below: 
 

 Assumption 

Impact on Fair 

Value 

$’000 

Impairment 

 

$’000 

10% change in implied valuations per reserve/resource tonne 14,000  *14,000  

 
* The recognition of this impairment assumes that the movement would fall outside of an acceptable range. 

 

4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
Employee and contractors option plan 
The Group has historically provided benefits to its employees (including Directors) and contractors in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby options to acquire ordinary shares were issued as an incentive to improve 
employee and shareholder goal congruence. No options were issued in the current financial year. 
 
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share 
of the Group with full dividend and voting rights. 

Set out below are summaries of the options lapsed during the year: 
 

 

2015 2014 

Number of options Weighted average 
Exercise price 

Number of options Weighted average 
Exercise price 

Outstanding at the 
beginning of the year 

11,685,000  2.79  13,195,000  2.69  

Cancelled/lapsed (11,585,000) 2.78  (1,510,000) 1.93  

Outstanding at year end 100,000  4.20  11,685,000  2.79  

Exercisable at year end 100,000  4.20  11,685,000  2.79  
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4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 0.50 years 
(2014: 0.91 years), with an exercise price of $4.20. The weighted average price of shares at the date of exercising 
options was nil (2014: nil) as no options were exercised during the year. 
 
Unexercised options at the end of the financial year 

  2015  

 Exercise price Expiry date Number of options  

  ‘000  

$4.20 31 December 2015 100  

End of the financial year  100  

 

  2014  

 Exercise price Expiry date Number of options  

  „000  

$2.01 to $3.00 30 September 2014 to 30 June 2015 11,080  

$3.01 to $4.00 31 December 2014 to 31 March 2015 505  

$4.01 to $5.00 31 December 2015 100  

End of the financial year  11,685  

 
Unvested unlisted performance and share appreciation rights under the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
No performance rights or share appreciation rights were granted during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

 

During the previous reporting period, on 2 December 2013, Key Management Personnel (KMP) and selected direct 

reports were granted performance rights and share appreciation rights. In 2014, the Board approved the removal of the 

internal Iron Ore Shipping (IOS) target and replaced it with an Earnings Per Share (EPS) target. Both rights are subject 

to a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) hurdle as well as EPS target, with equal weightings for each hurdle.  

No performance rights or share appreciation rights will vest until after an employee receives a vesting notification from 

the Board, advising them in writing the number of Long-Term Incentive (LTI) awards that have vested and the manner in 

which the awards will be settled, that is, cash or shares. Performance rights and share appreciation rights not vested on 

the vesting date, (30 June 2016 for LTIP granted on 2 December 2013 and 30 June 2015 for LTIP granted on 20 

December 2012) will automatically lapse and be forfeited in accordance with the LTIP rules. LTI awards that vest to any 

Executive Director cannot be settled in equity without prior shareholder approval. 

 Share appreciation rights 
2015  2014  

Number of rights  Number of rights  

Balance at 1 July  7,452,542  2,429,185  

Granted during the year -  5,199,712  

Vested during the year -  -  

Forfeited during the year (2,618,808) (176,355) 

Balance at 30 June  4,833,734  7,452,542  

 

 Performance rights 
2015  2014  

Number of rights  Number of rights  

Balance at 1 July  3,270,047  1,156,606  

Granted during the year -  2,193,771  

Vested during the year* (210,877) -  

Forfeited during the year (988,186) (80,330) 

Balance at 30 June  2,070,984  3,270,047  

 
* The weighted average exercise price of shares at the date of exercising performance rights was $0.63 (2014: nil). 

 
2015 

No performance rights or share appreciation rights were granted during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
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4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

Modifications 

The board permitted Robert Wilson and other certain employees to retain a pro-rated (based on time and performance) 

portion of the awards made under the LTI plan in 2013. These awards will vest subject to meeting the relevant 

performance hurdles set for each award grant.  

 

2014 
The fair value of the services received in return for performance rights and share appreciation rights granted on 2 
December 2013 is based on the fair value of rights granted, measured using a Black-Scholes and Monte-Carlo 
simulation models, incorporating the probability of the relative TSR vesting conditions being met, with the following 
inputs: 

 
 

Performance rights Share appreciation rights 

Performance measure EPS TSR EPS TSR 

Vesting conditions See below See below See below See below 

Test date 30 June 2016 30 June 2016 30 June 2016 30 June 2016 

Performance period 
1 July 2013 to 30 
June 2016 

1 July 2013 to 30 
June 2016 

1 July 2013 to 30 
June 2016 

1 July 2013 to 30 
June 2016 

Share price at grant date N/A N/A $1.15 $1.15 

Share price to determine number 
allocated (exercise price) 

N/A N/A $1.16 $1.16 

Remaining life 1 year 1 year 1 year 1 year 

Risk free rate 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 

Volatility 55% 55% 55% 55% 

Dividend yield 3% 3% 3% 3% 

Fair value on grant date $1.07 $0.94 $0.37 $0.36 

 
Vesting conditions 
Total Shareholder Return (TSR)  
The TSR scorecard will be determined based on the percentile ranking of the Company's TSR results, relative to the 
TSR of each of the companies in the comparator group over the same performance period. The comparator group 
currently comprises selected constituents of the S&P ASX 300 Metals & Mining Index. The vesting schedule for the 
incentives subject to relative TSR testing and is as follows: 
 

Relative TSR performance TSR Scorecard 

< 50th percentile nil 

Between 50th and 75th percentile Pro rata between 50% and 100%, i.e. between 0.5 and 1 

> 75th percentile 100%, i.e. 1 

 
The hurdle price of the share appreciation rights, for the purposes of TSR, is equivalent to the 30 day volume weighted 
average share price at the commencement of the performance period. The hurdle price of the share appreciation rights 
for the 2013 offer was calculated at $1.16 per right (2012 offer was $2.04 per right). 

Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
The EPS Scorecard will be determined based on the portion of Atlas‟ pre-tax underlying profit that is allocated to one 
share for the financial year ending. 

 
Employee share plan 
During the year the Group has offered to eligible employees a share plan whereby fully paid ordinary shares may be 
granted by the company to eligible employees for no cash consideration. All Australian resident permanent employees 
who have completed 12 months continuous service as at the qualifying date are eligible to participate in the plan. 
Employees may elect not to participate in the plan.  

 
The employee share scheme is administered by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust. The Trust is consolidated in 
accordance with Note 1(b). Shares issued by the Trust to employees are acquired on-market prior to issue. Shares held 
by the Trust and not yet issued to employees at the end of the reporting period are recorded as treasury shares in the 
financial statements (refer Note 23(b-d)). 
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4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Under the plan, eligible employees may be granted up to $1,000 of fully paid ordinary shares in Atlas Iron Ltd annually 
for no cash consideration. The number of shares issued under the plan is the weighted average price that the 
Company‟s shares are traded on the ASX during the 5 days up to and including the final day of the offer period. The 
shares are recognised in the balance sheet as an issue of treasury shares by the Trust and as a part of employee 
benefits expense when the shares are granted.  
 
Shares issued under the plan are subject to trading restrictions and may not be sold until the earlier of three years after 
the date of allocation or cessation of employment by the Group. In all other respects the shares rank equally with other 
fully paid ordinary shares.  
 

 2015  2014  

 ’000  ‟000  

Number of shares granted under the plan to participating employees  335  175  

Each participant was issued with shares worth up to $1,000 based on the weighted market price of $0.62 (2014: $0.92). 

Salary Sacrifice and Matched Shares Plan  
The Salary Sacrifice and Matched Shares Plan was set up to reward eligible employees for their contribution to Atlas 
and to provide the opportunity to employees to acquire an equity interest in Atlas in a tax effective manner via a regular 
salary sacrifice arrangement. The Salary Sacrifice and Matched Share Plan was approved by the Atlas Board on 24 
February 2014. 
 
All Australian full, part-time or fixed term employees of Atlas who are residents of Australia for tax purposes and have 
successfully completed either their probationary period or a minimum of three months continuous service, whichever is 
the greater at the qualifying date are able to participate in the plan. 
 
The plan allows participants to salary sacrifice between $1,000 and $5,000 per annum from their pre-tax salary. Atlas 
will match the shares on a one for one basis. Shares were purchased by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust each 
month for nine months commencing in July 2014. Shares purchased each month with the participant‟s salary sacrifice 
contribution are subject to a trading restriction and must be held by the Trustee for a two year period. If participants 
leave before the two year restriction period they can choose for the salary sacrifice shares purchased to be transferred 
to them or sold. Salary sacrificed shares cannot be forfeited. 
 
Matched shares will also be purchased on a monthly basis and are subject to a trading restriction of three years, 
however are subject to good and bad leaver provisions. Matched shares will be forfeited in regards to bad leavers. Bad 
leavers include participants that cease to be employed by the Group via voluntary resignation, dismissal for cause, 
fraud, criminal offence or purported dealing. Good leavers include participants that cease to be employed by the Group 
by reason of redundancy, death, incapacitation or any other reason determined by the Board. 
 
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as a part of employee 
benefit expense were as follows: 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions   

Employee share plan -  (368) 

Salary Sacrifice and Matched Shares Plan (97) -  

Performance and share appreciation rights 355  (2,045) 

Total 258  (2,413) 
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5. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  
  

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Salaries and benefits* (9,816) (15,993) 

Corporate expenses (2,575) (3,845) 

Consultancy expenses (4,182) (10,025) 

Building and properties (6,966) (6,768) 

Other expenses  (1,349) (2,132) 

 (24,888) (38,763) 

* Contributions of $3,475,000 were made during the year (2014: $4,304,000) to defined contribution plans. 

Expenses comprise costs for both corporate activities and shared services. 
 

6. OTHER EXPENSES  
  

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000   

Restructuring costs - onerous lease (19,514) (6,303) 

Restructuring costs - other (8,578) -  

Total restructuring costs (28,092) -  

Suspension costs* (24,711) -  

Provision for settlement (4,146) -  

Business combination expense (3,566) -  

Care and maintenance (1,734) (2,110) 

 (62,249) (8,413) 

 
*  Due to the suspension and recommencement of operations during the year, Atlas incurred costs totalling $20,965,000 with BGC 

Contracting Pty Ltd (2014: nil) and other key contractors $3,746,000 (2014: nil) to cover termination, suspension, remobilisation and 
other costs as per contractual agreements. $19,420,000 of the costs associated with BGC Contracting Pty Ltd were settled 
subsequent to year end by way of equity. 

 
Atlas has an onerous lease in which the lease payments are expected to exceed the rental income. Refer to Note 22 for 
further details. 
 
7. NET FINANCE INCOME/(EXPENSE) 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Interest income 4,006  8,608  

Interest accretion 910  1,774  

Finance income 4,916  10,382  

Interest expense – Term Loan B (29,626) (26,235) 

Amortisation of debt establishment costs (4,423) (4,414) 

Other finance expenses (2,409) (4,556) 

Finance expense (36,458) (35,205) 

Net (loss)/gain on foreign exchange (39,339) 37  

Net finance expense (70,881) (24,786) 
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8. INCOME TAX  
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

The major components of income tax are:   

Deferred income tax:   

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  67,003  5,056  

Adjustments in respect to prior year -  (836) 

Deferred MRRT:   

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences -  (41,321) 

Income tax benefit on MRRT -  12,396  

Tax expense/(benefit) reported in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income 

67,003  (24,705) 

 
 
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting loss before income tax multiplied by the Group‟s 
applicable income tax rate is as follows: 
 
 2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

Accounting loss before income tax (1,310,823) (10,453) 

At the Group’s statutory income tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%) (393,247) (3,136) 

Other non-deductible 1,789  2,454  

Equity accounting for share of loss of associates and joint ventures 1,076  1,049  

Adjustment in respect of prior year -  (836) 

Impairment:   

- Goodwill 18,233  -  

- Tenements 6,454  954  

- Equity accounted investments 15,608  2,100  

Temporary differences not brought to account 121,388  1,635  

Prior years losses derecognised 295,702  -  

MRRT:   

MRRT (benefit)/expense -  (41,321) 

Income tax expense/(benefit) on MRRT -  12,396  

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

67,003  (24,705) 
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8. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 
 
2015 

Deferred income tax Statement of financial position 

 2014  Recognised in  Equity 2015  

 $’000  profit or loss  $’000  

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:     

CONSOLIDATED    

Deferred income tax liabilities (DTL)/Deferred income tax assets (DTA)    

Port access rights (20,721) 20,721  -  -  

Mining tenements capitalised (143,568) 170,137  -  26,569  

Mine development costs (84,575) 78,380  -  (6,195) 

Prepayments and accruals 1,550  317  -  1,867  

Other assets 4,404  (3,290) -  1,114  

Cash and interest bearing loans (1,437) 29,798  -  28,361  

Plant and equipment 2,121  (14,302) -  (12,181) 

Reserve improvement (9,886) 4,744  -  (5,142) 

Provisions 21,947  7,868  -  29,815  

Employee benefits 1,466  (765) -  701  

Carried forward tax losses 359,547  56,479  -  416,026  

 130,848  350,087  -  480,935  

Less deferred tax assets not recognised (63,845) (417,090) -  (480,935) 

 67,003  (67,003) -  -  

 
2014 

Deferred income tax  Statement of financial position 

 
2013  
$‟000  

Recognised in  
profit or loss 

Equity 

Transfer to  

Disposal 
Group 

2014  

$‟000   

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:      

CONSOLIDATED      

Deferred income tax liabilities (DTL)/Deferred income tax assets (DTA)     

Port access rights (22,762) 2,041  -  -  (20,721) 

Mining tenements capitalised (155,737) 4,963  718 6,488  (143,568) 

Mine development costs (33,664) (50,911) -  -  (84,575) 

Prepayments and accruals 1,612  (62) -  -  1,550  

Other assets 8,483  (4,120) 47 (6) 4,404  

Cash and interest bearing loans 7,227  (8,664) -  -  (1,437) 

Plant and equipment 535  1,586  -  -  2,121  

Reserve improvement 294  (10,180) -  -  (9,886) 

Provisions 11,093  10,854  -  -  21,947  

Employee benefits 1,111  355  -  -  1,466  

Carried forward losses 309,626  49,917  -  4  359,547  

 127,818  (4,221) 765  6,486  130,848  

Less deferred tax assets not recognised (63,845) -  -  -  (63,845) 

DTA arising from MRRT DTL 12,396  (12,396) -  -  -  

 76,369  (16,617) 765  6,486  67,003  

MRRT DTL (41,321) 41,321  -  -  -  

 35,048  24,704  765  6,486  67,003  

 

The above disclosures have been prepared based on the tax consolidated group. 
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8. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 

 2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

Temporary differences 216,364  -  

Tax losses 1,379,708  208,150  

Capital losses 7,045  4,666  

 1,603,117  212,816  

 
9. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED 
 
Declared and paid during the year: 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Dividends paid on ordinary shares:   

Final unfranked dividend for 2014: 2.0 cents per share paid on 6 October 2014 
(2013: 3.0 cents per share paid on 20 September 2013). 

18,314  27,291  

Dividends declared on ordinary shares:   

Final unfranked dividend for 2015: nil (2014: 2.0 cents per share) -  18,314  

 
The dividend franking account has a nil balance as at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil). The final unfranked dividend for 2014 
includes $2,115,000 relating to the dividend reinvestment plan. 
 
10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 
* Includes trade receivables past due but not impaired of nil (2014: nil). 
** Provisional pricing receivable relates to amounts receivable on provisionally priced commodity sales contracts that are yet to be 
settled. No amount is in an open position as at 30 June 2015. These contracts may be settled with provisionally priced payables.   
*** Security deposits represent cash backing for office bonds, bank guarantee and a credit card facility. 
 

The Company has bank guarantees predominantly related to security deposits representing cash backing for office 
bonds, bank guarantees and a credit card facility. In 2014 the bank guarantees held also included exploration and 
mining bonds which are no longer required under the Mining Rehabilitation Fund (MRF). The total bank guarantees on 
issue at period end are $10,357,000 (2014: $31,961,000). 
 

  

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Current   

Trade receivables* 12,182  42,202  

Provisional pricing** 8,873  4,644  

Security deposits*** 2,918  22,077  

Related party receivables -  552  

Loan receivable from joint arrangements (Note 30) -  8,690  

 23,973  78,165  

Non–current   

Security deposits*** 7,795  9,971  

Loan receivable from joint arrangements (Note 30) 116  31,577  

Other 4,097  -  

 12,008  41,548  
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11. PREPAYMENTS 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Current 15,239  20,110  

Non-current 6,875  17,395  

 22,114  37,505  

 
Previously, an agreement was entered into with Port Hedland Port Authority to establish the Group as a foundation user 
of the Public Access port facility located at Utah Point. Gross contributions of $35,700,000 have been made by the 
Group. These contributions and interest have been recouped against port handling charges since the berth 
commissioning in September 2010. The remaining contributions and interest were recouped in full during the current 
year for an amount of $5,289,000 (2014: $14,926,000).  
 
In the 2012 financial year the Group entered into a long-term infrastructure sharing agreement for Wodgina operations. 
As part of this arrangement the Group contributed a total of $59,730,000. An expense of $9,282,000 was recognised 
during the current financial year (2014: $10,635,000). Disclosed within Prepayments – Current is the amount expected 
to be recouped within the next 12 months, being $10,313,000 (2014: $9,076,000). 
 
12. INVENTORIES 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Consumables – at cost 708  139  

Work in progress – at cost 5,790  5,118  

Work in progress – at net realisable value -  35,993  

Finished goods – at cost 9,106  4,870  

Finished goods – at net realisable value -  7,305  

 15,604  53,425  

 
Writedowns of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2015 
amounted to $29,769,000 (2014: $10,017,000). The expense has been included in operating costs in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Refer to Note 2. 
 
13. DISPOSAL GROUP AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Disposal group held for sale -  4,738  

Asset held for sale -  15,000  

 -  19,738  

Disposal group and assets held for sale breakdown:   

Disposal group and assets held for sale -  29,896  

Disposal group liabilities held for sale -  (7,534) 

Disposal group reserves held for sale -  1,164  

Disposal group non-controlling interest -  (3,788) 

 -  19,738  

 

Assets and Liabilities of Disposal group held for sale 

At 30 June 2014, the assets and liabilities of disposal group held for sale comprised the Group‟s 53.45% interest in 
Shaw River Manganese Limited (Shaw River), which Atlas acquired control of on 29 August 2012. A Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) was reached with Bryve Resources (Bryve) with the intention of entering into a binding sales 
arrangement in respect of the sale of interests in Shaw River. On 13 August 2014, the Group disposed of a 9.69% 
interest in Shaw River for a cash consideration of $306,000, resulting in loss of control and as the Group retained a 
43.76% interest in Shaw River significant influence was considered to exist. As a result of the MOU with Bryve, the 
disposal group held for sale was reclassified as an asset held for sale and a loan receivable from Shaw River of  
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13. DISPOSAL GROUP AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED) 
 
$3,528,000 was recognised. Termination costs of $480,000 were paid to Shaw River in accordance with the MOU. The 
Group‟s investment in Shaw River was equity accounted until the remaining interest was disposed.  
 
Following the disposal of the 9.69% interest in Shaw River, the remaining investment held for sale was stated at fair 
value less costs to sell of $1,384,000, which represented the consideration expected from Bryve. In February 2015, the 
conditions precedent to which Bryve were granted the option to purchase the remaining interest from the Group were 
satisfied and the option was exercised by Bryve. Consideration of $1,384,000 was received in full in two tranches with 
no gain or loss recognised on the disposal of the asset held for sale.  
 
During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group recognised an impairment reversal of $2,157,000. 
 
The disposal group held for sale was stated at fair value less costs to sell or carrying value and comprised the following 
assets and liabilities: 

 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

ASSETS   

Cash -  331  

Receivables -  204  

Prepayments -  27  

Investment in equity accounted investees -  384  

Property, plant and equipment -  305  

Mining tenements capitalised -  13,645  

LIABILITIES   

Trade and other payables -  (353) 

Employee benefits -  (114) 

Provisions -  (581) 

Deferred tax liability -  (6,486) 

Disposal group net assets held for sale -  7,362  

EQUITY   

Reserves -  1,164  

Non-controlling interest -  (3,788) 

Disposal group held for sale -  4,738  

 

Mining and exploration tenements 

In June 2014, Atlas expected to sell a group of non-core mining and exploration tenements in the mid-west region of 

Western Australia. A Memorandum of Understanding was reached with an interested party for the interested party to 

undertake due diligence and for the parties to negotiate with the intention of entering into a binding sale arrangement in 

respect of the tenements. During the year ended 30 June 2015, the sale of the non-core mining and exploration 

tenements was not executed and the Group impaired these assets. Refer to Note 3. 

 

14. INVESTMENT IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Investment in joint venture (Note 3) -  27,211  

Investment in associates 414  3,411  

 414  30,622  

Share of loss of associate (2,751) (3,778) 

Share of (loss)/profit of joint venture (836) 729  

Total share of loss of equity accounted investees (3,587) (3,049) 
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14. INVESTMENT IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (CONTINUED) 
 

(i) Investment in joint venture 

 Name of entity Principal activity 

 Ownership interest 

 2015 2014 

 % % 

NWI Pty Limited  Port development Joint Venture 63.00 63.00 
 
Significant judgements and assumptions 
The Group has an interest of 63.00% in NWI Pty Ltd (NWI); however it does not have control under the AASB 10 
Consolidation of Financial Statements definition, as decisions cannot be made without the unanimous approval of all 
shareholders as stated in the Corporate Governance Agreement. No individual shareholder controls NWI.  

(ii)  Investment in associates 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Carrying value of interest in associates 414  3,411  

Share of:   

- Loss from continuing operations (2,751) (3,778) 

- Other comprehensive (loss)/income (329) 124  

 (3,080) (3,654) 

 

 Name of entity Principal activity 

 Ownership interest 

2015                        2014 

   % % 

Centaurus Metals Limited  Iron ore exploration Associate 20.481 20.97 

Shaw River Manganese Limited Mineral exploration Associate 0.002 53.45 

Kalamazoo Resources Pty Ltd Mineral exploration Associate 0.003 25.10 

 
Significant judgements and assumptions 
1  During the period, the Group participated in Centaurus Metals Limited‟s (Centaurus) fundraising contributing $250,000. The change in 

shares on issue subsequent to the fundraising diluted Atlas‟ current interest to 20.48%. The Group does not have control in 
accordance with AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, as the Group‟s representation on the Board does not constitute power 
over direct activities. The Group has recognised a $1,900,000 impairment to writedown the carrying value of its investment to fair 
value at 30 June 2015. Refer to Note 3 for further details. 

2  On 13 August 2014, the Group disposed of a 9.69% interest in Shaw River Manganese Limited (Shaw River) resulting in loss of 
control. Shaw River was equity accounted for up until the date of disposal of the remaining interest in February 2015. Refer to Note 13 
for further details. 

3   As a result of the disposal of Shaw River, the Group ceased recognising Kalamazoo Resources Limited (Kalamazoo) (2014: 25.10%) 
as the Group‟s interest was disposed on sale of Shaw River. Refer to Note 13 for further details. 

  
The Group‟s interest in associates is accounted for using the equity method. 

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

  2015  2014  

 Notes $’000  $‟000  

 
  

At cost  182,625  184,996  

Accumulated depreciation  (53,549) (41,153) 

 15(a) 129,076  143,843  
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(a) Movements in carrying amounts 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and end of 
the current financial year. 

 
16. INTANGIBLES 
 

 
Notes 

2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

At cost  20,671  149,396  

Accumulated amortisation  (19,085) (14,049) 

 16(a) 1,586  135,347  

 
  

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Property    

Carrying amount at beginning  13,946  14,724  

Transfers  45,791  1,068  

Additions    

- Buildings  11,128  323  

- Under construction  -  705  

Impairment (Note 3)  (3,113) -  

Disposal  (3,014) -  

Depreciation expense  (1,830) (2,720) 

Transfers to disposal group held for sale (Note 13)  -  (154) 

Carrying amount at end  62,908  13,946  

Plant and equipment    

Carrying amount at beginning  129,897  14,910  

Transfers  (46,108) 115,288  

Additions  3,710  17,941  

Disposals  (337) (115) 

Transfers to disposal group held for sale (Note 13)  -  (150) 

Depreciation expense  (15,414) (16,966) 

Impairment loss (Note 3)  (6,168) (1,011) 

Carrying amount at end  65,580  129,897  

Assets under construction    

Carrying amount at beginning  -  64,253  

Transfers  18  (64,253) 

Additions  570  -  

Carrying amount at end  588  -  

Total  129,076  143,843  
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16. INTANGIBLES (CONTINUED) 
 
(a) Movements in carrying amounts 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of intangible assets between the beginning and end of the current 
financial year. 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Goodwill    

Carrying amount at beginning  60,777  60,777  

Impairment (Note 3)  (60,777) -  

Carrying amount at end  -  60,777  

Port access rights    

Carrying amount at beginning  71,591  75,838  

Impairment (Note 3)  (68,630) -  

Amortisation expense  (2,961) (4,247) 

Carrying amount at end  -  71,591  

Other    

Carrying amount at beginning  2,979  4,439  

Additions  412  1,402  

Transfers  270  107  

Amortisation expense  (2,075) (2,969) 

Carrying amount at end  1,586  2,979  

  1,586  135,347  

 
For impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group‟s singular operating segment (Note 31). The recoverable 
amount was measured using a combination of life-of-mine value in use calculations, which was determined by 
discounting future cash flows of the business and fair value, which in turn was determined by other valuation 
methodologies including resource multiples. Refer to Note 3 for impairments recognised during the year. 
 
17. MINE DEVELOPMENT COSTS 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

At cost  756,160  844,666  

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (417,938) (329,509) 

  338,222  515,157  

Mine development cost breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning  515,157  413,754  

Additions*  67,604  301,202  

Reassessment of rehabilitation asset  8,885  22,146  

Transfers from mining tenements capitalised  -  3,124  

Transfers to evaluation expenditure - reserve development   -  (4,785) 

Transfers to property, plant and equipment  -  (52,139) 

Impairment (Note 3)  (164,995) -  

Amortisation  (88,429) (168,145) 

Carrying amount at end  338,222  515,157  

 
* Includes 30% acquisition of Altura‟s portion of the Mt Webber joint operation. Refer to Note 25 for further details.  
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18. EVALUATION EXPENDITURE – RESERVE DEVELOPMENT 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Evaluation expenditure – reserve development  17,140  49,615  

Evaluation expenditure – reserve development breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning  49,615  10,870  

Additions   4,796  31,544  

Impairment (Note 3)  (37,271) -  

Transfer from mine tenement acquisition costs  -  2,416  

Transfer from mine development costs  -  4,785  

Carrying amount at end  17,140  49,615  

 
19. MINING TENEMENTS CAPITALISED 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Tenement acquisition costs  141,414  716,874  

Tenement acquisition cost breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning  716,874  764,704  

Other acquisition   363  350  

Disposals  (1,310) -  

Impairment (Note 3)  (574,253) (10,811) 

Transfers to reserve development costs  -  (2,416) 

Transfers to mine development costs  -  (3,124) 

Transfers to assets held for sale (Note 13)  (260) (15,000) 

Transfers to disposal group held for sale (Note 13)  -  (13,645) 

Foreign exchange difference  -  (3,184) 

Carrying amount at end  141,414  716,874  

 
The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on the successful 
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective mining areas.  
 
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Current    

Trade payables*   30,890  25,749  

Accrued expenses  52,294  102,872  

Royalty payable  5,541  18,846  

Provisional pricing and rebates payable**  20,322  33,025  

Other payables   1,272  7,259  

   110,319  187,751  

Non-current    

Other payables and accruals  4,000  -  

  4,000  -  

 
*   Trade payables are normally settled on a 30-day basis except for key contractors, who are settled in the month of service. 
** Provisional pricing payable relates to amounts payable on provisionally priced commodity sales contracts that are yet to be settled. 

These contracts may be settled with provisionally priced receivable. No amount is in an open position as at 30 June 2015.    

 
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing. 
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21. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Current    

Unsecured pre-export finance facility  -  14,331  

Secured debt facility  3,581  2,920  

  3,581  17,251  

Non-current    

Secured debt facility  345,540  284,634  

Borrowing costs  (9,601) (13,529) 

  335,939  271,105  

 
On 10 December 2012, Atlas entered into a Term Loan B facility of US$275,000,000 which was fully drawn. The term of 
the facility is 5 years with an interest rate of LIBOR plus 7.50% (LIBOR floor of 1.25%). The facility is secured over all 
assets of Atlas and each material subsidiary subject to agreed exceptions and in some certain circumstances, to 
obtaining third party consents. The facility has no earnings or net asset based maintenance covenants, but has an asset 
coverage covenant. It is repayable at the Company‟s option at par, without penalty in most circumstances, with minor 
penalties being payable in the event of refinancing in the Term Loan B market (soft call protection). The facility 
amortises at 1% per annum and then the remainder paid out on maturity. As at 30 June 2015, the outstanding balance 
was US$268,100,000 (2014: US$270,900,000). Establishment fees paid in relation to this facility total $19,605,000, with 
an amortisation expense of $3,928,000 (2014: $3,918,000) being recognised during the current financial period. Interest 
expense recognised is $29,626,000 (2014:$26,235,000). 
 
On 10 December 2012, Atlas also put in place a A$50,000,000 three-year revolving facility. As of 30 June 2015 this 
facility remains undrawn. Establishment fees paid in relation to this facility totalled $1,486,000 with an amortisation 
expense of $495,000 (2014: $495,000) being recognised during the current financial period. This facility has a 2.25% 
commitment fee for any undrawn amounts, with an expense of $1,125,000 (2014: $1,125,000) being recognised during 
the current financial period. 
 
In the prior year Atlas had a pre-export funding facility to improve timing of funds received on iron ore sales. This facility 
was cancelled during the year. 
 

 Facility 

2015 2014 

Available funds 
$’000  

Amount drawn 
$’000  

Available funds 
$‟000  

Amount drawn 
$‟000  

Term Loan B facility* 349,121  349,121  287,553  287,553  

Three year revolving facility 50,000  -  50,000  -  

Pre-export funding facility* -  -  53,079  14,331  

Balance at end of year 399,121  349,121  390,632  301,884  

 
* Facilities are denominated in USD and shown per their AUD equivalent in the table. 
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22. PROVISIONS 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Current    

Rehabilitation and demobilisation  3,062  2,750  

Onerous lease  3,135  1,178  

Other  1,017  -  

  7,214  3,928  

Non-current    

Rehabilitation and demobilisation  68,531  61,665  

Onerous lease  22,878  5,125  

  91,409  66,790  

Provisions breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning   70,718  49,656  

Provisions made during the year  34,556  30,253  

Provisions used during the year  (7,992) (9,189) 

Unwind of discount  1,341  579  

Transfer provisions to disposal group held for sale (Note 13)  -  (581) 

Carrying amount at end   98,623  70,718  

 
Rehabilitation provision 
When developing its mines, the Group makes provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites on a discounted 
basis. This provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs relating to the mine sites, which are expected to 
be incurred through the life of mine. These provisions have been determined in conjunction with the work undertaken by 
external consultants. Assumptions based on the current economic environment have been made in determining current 
rehabilitation provisions, which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. 
These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date to take into account any material changes to the assumptions. 
However, actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning 
works required, which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation is likely 
to depend on when the mines cease to produce at economically viable rates. This in turn will depend upon future iron 
ore prices, which are inherently uncertain. 
 
Onerous lease 
In 2012, the Group entered into a non-cancellable lease for office space which will expire in 2024. Due to changes in 

requirements, a portion of the office space is sublet to a third party for part of the remaining lease term but changes in 

market conditions have meant that the rental income will be lower than the rental expense. In addition, a portion of the 

remaining office space is surplus to current requirements and the Group is actively looking to sublet this space. The 

obligation for the discounted future payments, net of expected rental income, has been provided for by the Group.  

23. ISSUED CAPITAL, RESERVES, ACCUMULATED PROFIT/(LOSS) AND OTHER EQUITY 
 
(a) Issued and paid up capital 

 

Notes 

2015  2014 

 
Number 

of shares ‘000  
$’000  

Number 
of shares „000  

$‟000  

(i) share capital      

Ordinary shares fully paid 23(b) 919,045  1,991,630  915,161  1,989,359  

  919,045  1,991,630  915,161  1,989,359  
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23. ISSUED CAPITAL, RESERVES, ACCUMULATED PROFIT/(LOSS) AND OTHER EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) Movements in share capital and other equity securities 

 

 

2015 2014 

 

Number 
of shares 

‘000  
$’000 

Number 
of shares „000 

$‟000  

Beginning of the financial year 915,161  1,989,359  909,718  1,984,654  

Issued during the year:     

- Ordinary shares issued upon vesting of performance rights 205  129  -  -  

- Treasury shares* (95) 56  (335) (212) 

- Ordinary shares issued through dividend reinvestment        
plan 

3,774  2,086  5,778  4,917  

End of the financial year 919,045  1,991,630 915,161  1,989,359  

 
* Treasury shares are net of purchases and issues.    

 
(c) Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Group in proportion 
to the number of, and amounts paid on the shares held. There are no restrictions attached to this class of share. 
 
On a show of hands, every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote 
and upon a poll, each share is entitled to one vote. 
 
All issued shares are fully paid. The Group does not have any par value in respect of its issued shares. 
 
(d) Reserves 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Share-based payments reserve  30,045  30,604  

Associates‟ reserve  (363) (692) 

Total reserves  29,682  29,912  

Foreign currency translation reserve – disposal group held for sale  -  (1,164) 

Total reserves including the disposal group held for sale  29,682  28,748  

 
Refer to statement of changes in equity for details of movements. 
 
(e) Nature and purpose of reserves 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise: 

(i) the grant date fair value of options issued but not exercised 
(ii) the difference between the grant date fair value of shares issued to employees less the issue of shares 

held by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust. 
 
The associates‟ reserve mainly recognises Atlas‟ share of the foreign currency translation reserve belonging to the 
associates. 
 
(f) Other Equity 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Shares to be issued  10,086  -  

 
On 25 June 2015, Atlas obtained shareholder approval for the issue of Contractor Shares and Contractor Options, in 
accordance with the conditions to the offer disclosed in the Prospectus dated 11 June 2015. The shares to be issued at 
30 June 2015 were issued on 24 July 2015. 
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24. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
(a) Reconciliation of the (loss)/profit after income tax to the net cash flows from operations 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Net (loss)/profit  (1,377,826) 14,252  

Non-cash items    

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  117,794  207,893  

Share-based payment expense  (258) 2,413  

Impairment loss  980,371  18,822  

Inventory writedown  29,769  10,017  

Loss on disposal of fixed assets  1,071  173  

Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)  39,339  (37) 

Amortisation of debt establishment costs  4,423  4,413  

Net interest (income)/expense - other  (1,977) 1,631  

Interest expense on borrowing facilities  30,750  27,387  

Business combination expense  3,566  -  

Gain/(loss) on financial instruments  (7,276) -  

Share of loss of equity accounted investees  3,587  3,049  

Change in fair value of financial assets  687  (64) 

Restructuring costs – onerous lease  19,514  6,303  

BGC settlement  20,842  -  

Tax expense  67,003  (24,705) 

Other  (936) (5,164) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  25,888  (11,288) 

Decrease in prepayments  4,108  15,347  

Decrease/(increase) in inventories  23,886  (14,827) 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (49,541) 32,234  

(Decrease)/increase in employee entitlements  (3,083) 1,352  

Increase in provisions  1,212  -  

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities  (67,087) 289,201  

 
(b) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises: 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Cash at bank and in hand  73,305  160,548  

Short term deposits  -  103,694  

Closing cash and cash equivalents balance  73,305  264,242  

 
Cash at bank and on hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are 
made for varying periods, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the 
respective short term deposit rates. 
 
(c) Non-cash financing and investing activities 
During the year ended 30 June 2015, Atlas gained 100% ownership (2014: 70%) of the Mt Webber mine joint operation 
as a result of a debt swap which was through a non-cash investing activity (refer to Note 25).There were no other non-
cash financing and investing activities for the year ending 30 June 2015 (2014: nil). 
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25. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATIONS 
 

Name of operation Principal activity 

 Ownership interest 

                     2015                        2014  

   % % 

Mt Webber Mineral exploration Joint operation 100 70 

 
During the year ended 30 June 2015, Atlas gained 100% (2014: 70%) ownership of the Mt Webber mine joint operation. 

On 24 December 2014, Atlas entered into an agreement with joint operation partner Altura Mining Limited (“Altura”) to 

purchase their 30% joint operation interest in the Mt Webber mine, which was subject to Altura shareholder approval. 

Once Altura shareholder approval was received on 13 February 2015, Atlas completed the acquisition. 

The final consideration to purchase the 30% interest in assets and liabilities at Mt Webber was $28,500,000, which 
comprised predominantly of capitalised mine development costs. The consideration comprised of a debt swap of 
$24,500,000 (principal and interest) between Altura and Atlas and the present value of a future sales royalty stream of 
$4,000,000. The sales royalty relates to 1% of the free on board sales price on Altura‟s share of tonnes produced from 
Mt Webber and other jointly owned peripheral tenements when the 62% iron ore price averages greater than AUD$95 in 
the month of delivery. As a result of the transaction there was no cash paid by Atlas, nor any goodwill or gain on bargain 
purchase recognised on completion of the acquisition. The initial 70% interest was not revalued as it is an acquisition of 
the remaining interest in a joint operation. 
 
Before Atlas gained 100% ownership of the Mt Webber mine, the Mt Webber arrangement was not a separate vehicle 
as it did not have a separately identified financial structure or was a separate legal entity. The Group recognised in full 
its share of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses relating to the Mt Webber operations. 
 
The principal place of business of the joint operation is Australia. 
 
26. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
(a) Exploration lease commitments 
The Group has certain commitments to meet minimum expenditure requirements on the mineral exploration assets it 
has an interest in. 
 
Outstanding exploration commitments are as follows: 
 

 
2015  2014  

$’000  $‟000  

Not later than one year 4,917  7,858  

Later than one year and not later than five years 17,689  13,902  

More than five years 47,260  40,307  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

69,866  62,067  

 
(b) Contractual commitments 

 
2015  2014  

$’000  $‟000  

Port Handling fees   

Not later than one year -  11,168  

Later than one year and not later than five years -  2,540  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-  13,708  

 
The Group renegotiated its port handling services agreement during the year. No minimum commitment applies as at 30 
June 2015. 
 

 
2015  2014  

$’000  $‟000  

Other   

Not later than one year 59,842  45,460  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59,842  45,460  
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26. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

The Group has entered into operational contracts that are cancellable, in which case a minimum commitment applies. 

These mainly relate to mining, crushing and hauling contracts.  

 
(c) Lease expenditure commitments 
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee 
Operating leases (non-cancellable): Minimum lease payments 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Not later than one year  10,274  10,570  

Later than one year and not later than five years  31,938  32,764  

More than five years  33,221  39,888  

Aggregate expenditure contracted for at reporting date  75,433  83,222  

 
The Group has entered into leases for office and accommodation buildings, motor vehicles, office equipment and port 
handling facilities. 
 
During the year, an expense of $10,691,000 was recognised in profit or (loss) in respect of operating leases (2014: 
$10,687,000). 
 
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor 
Operating leases (non-cancellable): Minimum lease payments 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Not later than one year  2,157  1,367  

Later than one year and not later than five years  4,513  1,230  

Aggregate expenditure contracted for at reporting date  6,670  2,597  

 
The Group has entered into commercial property leases to sublease the Group‟s surplus office space.  
 
(d) Guarantees 
In the previous financial year, Atlas provided a guarantee to an unrelated party for their performance in a lease 
agreement of $1,606,000.  

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Following a significant and sustained fall in the USD iron ore price the Company suspended its mining operations in 
April 2015 and undertook a whole of business review. In May 2015, the Company executed the contractor collaboration 
agreement with certain key contractors which significantly reduces Atlas‟ cost base (in lower iron ore price 
environments) and therefore contributes to a more sustainable business.  

On the back of establishing the contractor collaboration model the Company issued a Prospectus on 11 June 2015 to 
raise up to $180 million of equity. Shareholder approval for the capital raising was received on 25 June 2015.  

Subsequent to year end the Company received applications for $87 million from existing shareholders, contractors and 
new investors. The Company issued 1,744,762,043 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.05 per share on 24 
July 2015. In addition, 1,774,762,043 free listed options were issued to subscribing parties, which are exercisable at 
$0.075 per share and expire on 30 June 2017.  

The Company lifted suspension in the trading of its securities on 27 July 2015.  

No other matters have arisen since 30 June 2015, which have significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial 
years.  
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28. (LOSS)/PROFIT PER SHARE 
 
(a) Reconciliation of earnings to (loss) or profit   

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Net (loss)/profit   (1,377,826) 14,252  

(Loss)/profit used in calculating basic (loss)/profit per share   (1,377,826) 14,252  

 
(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculating basic 

(loss)/profit per share 

  2015 2014 

 Number of shares Number of shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic 
(loss)/profit per share 

918,035,916 914,351,906 

 
Effect of dilutive securities: 
Atlas‟ potential ordinary shares at 30 June 2015, being its options and rights granted, are not considered dilutive as the 
conversion of these options and rights would result in a decrease in the net loss per share. The calculation of diluted 
earnings per share at 30 June 2014 was based on profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of $14,252,000 and a 
weighted average number of shares outstanding after adjustments for the effects of all ordinary shares of 925,074,495 
calculated below: 
 
(c) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 
 

 2015  2014 

 

 

Number of  
shares 

Number of  
shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  918,035,916 914,351,906 

Effect of share options/rights on issue  - 10,722,589 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)   918,035,916 925,074,495 

 
The average market value of the Group‟s shares, for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options, was 
based on the quoted market prices for the period that the options were outstanding. 
 
29. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
 
 

 2015  2014  

 
 $  $  

Audit or review of the financial report of the Group  277,500  251,550  

Audit of the Mt Webber joint operation  -  25,000  

Audit and review services  277,500  276,550  

Investigating accountant‟s report - Prospectus  400,944  -  

Accounting advisory services  31,900  -  

Project controls and advisory services  -  80,975  

Contract review services  -  17,665  

Administrative staff secondments  -  55,500  

Other services provided to the Group  24,500  12,000  

Other services  457,344  166,140  

  734,844  442,690  

 
Amounts received or due to KPMG for audit or review of Shaw River‟s financial report have not been included above.  
 
30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

The financial statements include the financial statements for the Group and the subsidiaries listed in Note 33.  
Summarised financial information for the Group‟s associates and joint ventures are contained within Note 14. 
 
(a) Key management personnel and Director related transactions 
Kerry Sanderson AO, a Non-Executive Director of the Group (resigned effective 19 September 2014) was also a 
Director of Downer EDI Limited (Downer). Snowden Mining Industry Consultants Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of Downer, was 
engaged by the Group to provide consulting services in relation to production scheduling, ore reserves statements,  
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30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

software maintenance and training and development. The total cost for services provided was $9,833 (2014: $126,411), 
of which nil is outstanding as at 30 June 2015 (2014: $15,690). 

Sook Yee Tai, a Non-Executive Director of the Group is also the Managing Director of IMC Industrial Group. During the 
period, the Group sold iron ore to IMC Resources (China) Ltd, a subsidiary of IMC Industrial Group to the value of 
$4,065,000 net CFR (2014: $41,640,000). As at 30 June 2015, the Group received all payments for shipments. Oriental  

Bulk Shipping Pte Ltd, a subsidiary of IMC Industrial Group, provided freight services to the Group. The total cost for 
services provided was $1,534,000 (2014: $12,761,000), none of which was outstanding as at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil).   
 

(i) Compensation of key management personnel by category 
The information regarding individual Directors and Executives compensation required by Corporations Regulation 
2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration section of the Directors‟ Report. 
 

  2015  2014  

  $’000  $‟000  

Short term  3,020  4,013  

Long term  64  67  

Post-employment  548  276  

Share-based payment  (273) 1,420  

  3,359  5,776  

 
(ii) Loans to key management personnel 

There were no loans provided to key management personnel during the year. 
There were no related party transactions between key management personnel and the Group, other than those related 
to compensation, which has been disclosed above. 

(b) Investments in other entities 

Name of related party 

Ownership 
interest 

Loans to related 
parties  

Other related party 
transactions2 

%    $’000  $’000 

Mt Webber Joint Operation 2015 100.00  -  1,593  

 2014 70.00  18,105  553  

NWI Pty Limited 2015 63.00  116  (199) 

 2014 63.00  22,162  (62) 

Centaurus Metals Limited 2015 20.48  -  (250) 

 2014 20.97  -  (1,500) 

Shaw River Manganese Limited1 2015 -  -  (241) 

 2014 53.45  -  - 

Kalamazoo Resources Pty Ltd1 
2015 -  -  -  

2014 25.10  -  -  
 

1 As a result of the Group‟s loss on control of Shaw River in August 2014 due to the partial sale of 9.69% interest in Shaw River, the 
Group ceased recognising Shaw River as a subsidiary and Kalamazoo as an associate. The Group‟s interest in Shaw River was fully 
disposed in February 2015. Details of the transaction are outlined in Note 13. 
2 Negative is an expense or outflow and positive is income or inflow. 
 

Mt Webber Joint Operation 
As at 30 June 2014, the Group had a loan receivable from Altura Mining Limited (30% interest in the Mt Webber joint 
operation) of $18,105,000. On 24 December 2014 Atlas gained 100% (2014: 70%) ownership of the Mt Webber mine 
after entering into an agreement with joint operation partner Altura Mining Limited (“Altura”) to purchase their 30% joint 
operation interest in the Mt Webber joint operation. The acquisition was completed in February 2015. The consideration 
paid to Altura for their 30% fair value interest in mine development costs capitalised was equivalent to the receivable 
owed (principal and interest) and a sales royalty stream. Refer to Note 25 for further details. Up until the point at which 
Atlas completed the acquisition, the loan earned interest at 12% per annum. Interest earned on the loan during the year 
was $1,593,000 (2014: $553,000). 
 
  



 
 

 
 

Atlas Iron Limited and its Controlled Entities - Annual Report 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

ATLAS IRON LIMITED 2015 ANNUAL REPORT 69 

 

30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
NWI Pty Limited 
Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash except for loans 

described below. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. As 

at 30 June 2015, the Group has a loan receivable from NWI Pty Limited of $23,817,000 (2014: $22,162,000). For the 

year ended 30 June 2015, the Group recorded an impairment of $23,701,000 relating to amounts owed by related 

parties (2014: nil), which resulted in a carrying value of $116,000 (2014: $22,162,000). Refer to Note 3 for further 

details. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party 

and the market in which the related party operates. 

During the period a variation deed was executed on 12 May 2015, extending the interest free period of the loan from 
five to seven years, as well as extending the term of the loan from seven to nine years. The unsecured loan earns 
interest at the Australian Government five year bond rate plus a margin of 2% (subsequent to the interest free period) 
and is repayable by May 2020. During the period, Atlas contributed $199,000 (2014: $62,000) towards legal fees. 
 
Shaw River Manganese Limited 
During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group sold an interest in Shaw River to Bryve Resources which resulted in 
loss of control of Shaw River. As a result of the loss of control, the Group‟s investment in Shaw River was equity 
accounted until the remaining interest was disposed and a loan receivable from Shaw River of $3,528,000 was 
recognised. The interest rate on the SSR loan changed during the year with all interest accrued from August 2014 
onwards being accrued at 6% (previously 11%) in line with Shaw River sale agreement. Interest earned on the related 
party loan up until the complete disposal of Shaw River was $239,000 (2014: nil). In addition, termination costs of 
$480,000 were paid to Shaw River (2014: nil) in accordance with the sale agreement as part of the disposal. Refer to 
Note 13 for further details. 
 
Centaurus Metals Limited 
During the period, the Group contributed to Centaurus Metals Limited‟s equity raising to maintain its ownership interest. 
Atlas‟ consideration for the fundraising was $250,000 (2014: $1,500,000). Refer to Note 14 for further details. 
 
31. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
Segment products and locations 
The Group operates in the mineral exploration and extraction industry in Australia. For management purposes, the 
Group is organised into one main operating segment which involves the exploration and extraction of minerals in 
Australia. All of the Group‟s activities are interrelated and discrete financial information is reported to the Board of 
Directors (Chief Operating Decision Maker) as a single segment. Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are 
based upon analysis of the Group as one segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the 
financial statements of the Group as a whole. 
 
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES 
 
Financial risk management 
The Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. These risks arise in the normal course of 
business and are managed in accordance with the Group‟s Financial Risk Management Policy. The Board of Directors 
has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework and has delegated the 
authority for monitoring risk management policies to the Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
The Group‟s Treasury function reports to the Board and Audit and Risk Committee and provides assurance that the 
Group‟s financial activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, 
measured and managed in accordance with the Group‟s policies and risk objectives. It is the Group‟s policy that no 
trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken, however derivative positions may be utilised to 
manage the Group‟s financial risks. The Group‟s Financial Risk Management Policy does not allow the Group to enter 
into any sold option positions. 
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
The following table shows the fair value of financial assets including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The Group 
has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term trade receivables, payables and interest 
bearing loans, because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair values. 
 

 2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

Financial Assets    

Level 1*    

  Financial assets classified as held for trading  -  1,711  

Level 2**    

  Financial instruments – iron ore derivatives  604  -  

Level 3***    

  Financial instruments – embedded derivatives  -  1,665  

  604  3,376  

*  Level 1 denotes: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. 
** Level 2 denotes: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly (as prices) 

or indirectly (derived from prices). 
***  Level 3 denotes: valuation techniques (for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is  
     unobservable). 

 
Financial risks 
The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 
commodity price risk) and operational risk. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group‟s cash and cash equivalents and receivables from customers. 
 

To manage credit risk, the Group maintains policies governing credit approvals and investment counterparties.  

 
The Group‟s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the characteristics of its customers. The majority of the Group‟s 
sales revenue arises from customers based in China and the Group has mitigated the risk of financial loss by 
undertaking trade finance through letters of credit. 
 
The Group‟s policies limit its exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents by investing and transacting 
with banks that hold minimum investment credit ratings of A-1, where exposure to an individual counterparty with this 
rating is limited to 20% of the total portfolio. Where an investment credit rating is above A-1, exposure is limited to 33% 
of the total portfolio. The Company is currently in compliance with these limits. Certain different limits apply with respect 
to potential counterparties for commodity hedging transactions. Refer to commodity price risk below. 
 
Exposure to credit risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the Group‟s financial assets: 
 

Notes  
2015  2014  

$’000  $‟000  

Cash and cash equivalents 24(b) 73,305  264,242  

Cash and cash equivalents – disposal group held for sale 13 -  331  

Trade and other receivables* 10 35,981  119,713  

  
109,286  384,286  

 
*  Includes trade receivables past due but not impaired of nil (2014: nil). Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no  
   impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables past due. 

 
No impairment losses have been recognised during the year as a result of credit risk. 
 

Liquidity risk 
The Group‟s liquidity risk arises from the possibility that it will not be able to meet financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Group manages its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows to ensure that it maintains 
sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. The Group prepares detailed 
financial models as part of its budget planning and forecasting processes, which are used to predict liquidity needs to 
support the Group‟s funding requirements. 
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The expected maturity profile of the Group‟s financial liabilities at the reporting date, based on contractual amounts 
including estimated interest payments, is as follows: 
 

30 June 2015 
 
$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6 - 12 
months 

1 - 2  
years 

2 - 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

Interest bearing loan 349,121  (424,293) (17,300) (17,219) (34,116) (355,658) - 

Trade and other payables 114,319  (116,126) (106,319) (546) (1,210) (4,051) - 

 463,440  (540,419) (123,619) (17,765) (35,326) (359,709) - 

 

30 June 2014 
 
$‟000 

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6 - 12 
months 

1 - 2 
years 

2 - 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

Interest bearing loan 287,553  (374,253) (14,234) (14,099) (28,142) (317,778) - 

Pre-export finance 14,331  (14,344) (14,344) -  -  -  - 

Trade and other payables 187,751  (187,751) (187,751) -  -  -  - 

Trade and other payables 
– disposal group held for 
sale 

353  (353) (353) -  -  -  - 

 489,988  (576,701) (216,682) (14,099) (28,142) (317,778) - 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, including foreign exchange rates, commodity price and interest 
rates will affect the Group‟s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to 
fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign currency and interest rates.  
 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters 
while optimising return. 
 
To date, the Group has not adopted hedge accounting. 
 
Commodity price risk 
Commodity price risk arises from fluctuations in market prices of iron ore. As part of the contractor collaboration 
arrangements Atlas has sought to establish strategies that mitigate its exposure to iron ore price volatility in the short-
term. The strategy of utilising fixed priced sales contracts, cap/collar positions and option positions is aimed at providing 
some protection against decreases in the US dollar iron ore price while maintaining some exposure to pricing upside. At 
30 June 2015, the Group had approximately 2.4 million WMT subject to these contracts and positions at a range of 
US$48 to US$62 62% Fe price CFR/DMT China. 
 
The Group has entered into provisionally priced commodity sales contracts. These are provisionally priced sales 
volumes for which price finalisation is referenced to the relevant index at a future date. Provisional pricing mechanisms 
embedded within these sales arrangements have the character of a commodity derivative and are carried at fair value.  
 
The Group has no provisionally priced commodity sales contracts in an open position as at 30 June 2015. The Group‟s 
exposure at 30 June 2015 to the impact of movements in commodity prices upon provisionally invoiced sales volumes is 
set out in the following table. 
 
Impact on equity and profit or loss before tax of a 10% increase in market price 
 

 
 

2015 2014  

 $’000 $‟000  

Iron Ore -  13,001  

 
The sensitivities in the above tables have been determined as the absolute impact on fair value of a 10% increase in 
commodity prices at each reporting date, while holding all other variables, including foreign currency and exchange 
rates, constant. 
 
The relationship between commodity prices and exchange rates is complex and movements in exchange rates can 
impact commodity prices. The sensitivities should therefore be used with care. 
  



 
 

 
 

Atlas Iron Limited and its Controlled Entities - Annual Report 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

ATLAS IRON LIMITED 2015 ANNUAL REPORT 72 

 

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The Group's policies allow iron ore commodity risk trades (e.g. swaps) with counterparties of credit ratings A – (A 
minus) which is lower than for foreign exchange trades and short term investments, recognising the nature of the 
counterparties which regularly participate in the iron ore swap markets. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases which are denominated in currencies other than 
the Group‟s functional currency. The Group‟s sales are denominated in US dollars and approximately 14% (2014: 14%) 
of its operating costs are also denominated in US dollars. To hedge exposure to foreign exchange movements, the 
Group may enter into spot and forward foreign exchange contracts or foreign exchange options as required. There is 
one contract outstanding as at 30 June 2015 which has subsequently been settled on 1 July 2015. There were no such 
contracts outstanding as at 30 June 2014. 
 
Additionally the Group holds US dollar denominated debt and the Group holds a portion of cash in USD to satisfy its risk 
management objectives.  
 
The Group‟s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows, based on notional amounts and the 
AUD equivalent: 
 

30 June 2015 Notes 
AUD  USD  Total  

$’000  $’000  $’000  

Cash and cash equivalents 24(b) 21,323  51,982  73,305  

Trade and other receivables 10 20,016  15,965  35,981  

Trade and other payables 20 (91,136) (23,183) (114,319) 

Interest bearing loan 21 -  (349,121) (349,121) 

  (49,797) (304,357) (354,154) 

 

30 June 2014 Notes 
AUD  USD  Total  

$‟000  $‟000  $‟000  

Cash and cash equivalents 24(b) 50,433  213,809  264,242  

Cash and cash equivalents – disposal 
group held for sale 

13 331  -  331  

Trade and other receivables 10 84,995  34,922  119,917  

Trade and other payables 20 (147,948) (39,803) (187,751) 

Trade and other payables – disposal 
group held for sale 

13 (353) -  (353) 

Interest bearing loan 21 -  (287,553) (287,553) 

Pre-export finance 21 -  (14,331) (14,331) 

  (12,542) (92,956) (105,498) 

 
The following exchange rates applied during the financial year: 
 

 Average rate Reporting date spot rate 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 

US$ 0.8382 0.9187 0.7680 0.9420 
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
A 5% fluctuation of the Australian dollar against the US dollar at 30 June 2015 would have increased/(decreased) 
equity and profit or (loss) by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables, including 
interest rates remain constant. 
 

 
 Strengthening Weakening 

  Equity Profit or (loss) Equity Profit or (loss) 

  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  

30 June 2015      

+/-5%  -  14,493  -  (16,019) 

 
 
 

 

-  14,493  -  (16,019) 

30 June 2014      

+/-5%  -  4,892  -  (4,426) 

 
 
 

 -  4,892  -  (4,426) 

 
Interest rate risk 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on borrowing and investments from the possibility that changes in interest 
rates will affect future cash flows. The Group does not manage its exposure to movements in market interest rates. The 
Group adopts a policy of ensuring that as far as possible, it maintains excess cash and cash equivalents in short-term 
deposits at interest rates with maturities not exceeding 90 days. 
 
The interest rate profile of the Group‟s interest bearing financial instruments at the reporting date was: 
 

  2015  2014  

  $‘000  $‟000  

Fixed rate instruments    

Financial assets   10,466  135,742  

Financial liabilities   -  (14,331) 

  10,466  121,411  

Variable rate instruments    

Financial assets   73,305  160,548  

Financial liabilities   (349,121) (287,553) 

 
 
 

 
(275,816) (127,005) 

 
Refer to Note 21 for further information regarding interest bearing loans and borrowings.  
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit 
or (loss) by the amounts shown below. This analysis does not reflect any change in profit or (loss) in relation to the 
variable Term loan B, as even if the reasonably possible increase in interest rates occurs the interest rate floor on the 
Term loan B will not be exceeded. This analysis assumes that all other variables, including foreign exchange rates, 
remain constant. 
 

 
Profit or (loss) Equity 

 100bp increase 100bp decrease 100bp increase 100bp decrease 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

30 June 2015     

Variable rate instruments 733  (733) -  -  

 733  (733) -  -  

30 June 2014     

Variable rate instruments 1,605  (1,605) -  -  

 1,605  (1,605) -  -  

 
The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximately reflect their fair values. 
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Capital management 
The Board‟s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence whilst 
sustaining future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital plus retained earnings/(loss). The Board 
monitors both retained earnings/(loss) in addition to the Group‟s underlying earnings. Underlying earnings adjust 
retained earnings/(loss) for acquisition related costs and material non-cash, non-recurring adjustments such as asset 
impairment. The Board considers underlying earnings and cash flows when determining dividends to ordinary 
shareholders. 
 
The Group‟s Term Loan B facility has a total asset to secured debt covenant („asset to debt covenant‟) of 2:1, which is 
formally measured every six months on the release of the Group‟s half year and full year financial reports. The Group 
was in full compliance with the asset to debt covenant as at 30 June 2015. A breach of the covenant would result in the 
Term Loan B facility becoming immediately payable. 
 
The asset to debt covenant will vary according to the amount of the Group‟s total assets, the amount of the USD 
secured debt and the exchange rate used to convert the debt to Australian dollars. The amount of the Group‟s total 
assets is subject to, amongst other things, an on-going assessment of the recoverable amount of the Group‟s non-
current asset values. Refer to Note 3 for further information regarding the value of the Group‟s non-current assets. 
 

The Group does not purchase its own shares, except where purchased under an employee share plan (refer to Note 4). 
The Group‟s Term Loan B facility includes some restrictions on capital management that are standard for the Term 
Loan B market.  
 
There were no changes to the Group‟s approach to capital management during the year. 
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33. SUBSIDIARIES 

 Name of entity 
Country of  
incorporation 

Ownership 2015 (%) Ownership 2014 (%) 

Parent entity    

Atlas Iron Limited (i) Australia   

Subsidiaries    

Atlas Operations Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

St George Magnetite Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Mt Gould Minerals Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Weld Range Iron Ore Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Tiziflower Investments Inc (ii) Panama 100 100 

Jakkitower Enterprises SA (ii) Panama 100 100 

Warwick Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Aurox Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Ferro Metals Australia Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Giralia Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Tallering Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Carlinga Mining Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Wheelbarrow Prospecting Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

FerrAus Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Australian Manganese Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

FerrAus Manganese Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

South East Pilbara Assets Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Minera Atacamena Limitada Chile 100 100 

Atlas Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Atlas America Finance Inc United States of America 100 100 

Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust Australia 100 100 

PM Gold Asia Pty Ltd (iii) Australia - 100 

Shaw River Manganese Limited (iv) Australia - 53.45 

Shaw River Namibia Pty Ltd (iv) Australia - 53.45 

Shaw River Mauritius (iv) Mauritius - 53.45 

Otjozondu Holdings (Pty) Ltd (iv) Namibia - 53.45 

Otjozondu Mining (Pty Ltd) (iv) Namibia - 53.45 

Shaw River Ghana Pty Ltd (iv) Australia - 53.45 

Shaw River International Ltd (iv) British Virgin Islands - 53.45 

Butre Ahanta Exploration Limited (iv) Ghana - 40.10 

Mt Minnie Mining Company Pty Ltd(iv) Australia - 53.45 

Twelve Mile Pty Ltd (iv) Australia - 53.45 

Pickaxe City Pty Ltd(iv) Australia - 53.45 

 

(i) Atlas Iron Limited is the ultimate parent entity within the consolidated Group. 
(ii) These companies are members of the Atlas tax consolidated Group. 
(iii) PM Gold Asia Pty Ltd was deregistered during the year. 
(iv) During the period, the conditions precedent to which Bryve were granted the option to purchase the Group‟s interest in Shaw 

River were satisfied, resulting in loss of control. The option was subsequently exercised and settlement has occurred. As at 30 
June 2015, Atlas‟ interest in Shaw River has been reduced to nil. Refer to Note 13 for further details. 

 
Interests in unconsolidated structured entities. 
The Group has no interests in unconsolidated structured entities. 
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34. PARENT COMPANY 

As at and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2015, the Parent entity of the Group was Atlas Iron Limited.  
 
(a) Financial position of parent company at year end 

 
 

2015  2014  

 $’000  $‟000  

Total current assets  133,772  398,920  

Total non-current assets  1,135,210  2,142,236  

TOTAL ASSETS  1,268,982  2,541,156  

Total current liabilities  616,406  591,040  

Total non-current liabilities  431,916  339,180  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,048,322  930,220  

NET ASSETS  220,660  1,610,936  

TOTAL EQUITY OF THE PARENT ENTITY COMPRISING OF:    

Issued capital  1,991,630  1,989,359  

Reserves  30,557  27,786  

Accumulated loss  (1,801,527) (406,209) 

TOTAL EQUITY  220,660  1,610,936  

RESULTS OF PARENT ENTITY    

Loss for the year  (1,377,003) (22,234) 

Other comprehensive income for the year  329  112  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (1,376,674) (22,122) 

 
(b) Guarantees entered into by the Parent 

Atlas Iron Limited has not entered into a deed of cross guarantee with its 100% owned subsidiaries. 
The Parent has a guarantee in respect of a lease agreement as disclosed in Note 26(d). 
 
(c) Contingent liabilities of the Parent 

The Parent does not have any contingent liabilities. 

 
(d) Commitments of the Parent 

The commitments of the Parent are the commitments of the Group, see Note 26. 
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The Directors of Atlas Iron Limited declare that: 
 

(1) (a) In the Directors opinion, the consolidated financial statements and notes that are contained in pages 27 
to 76 and the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the remuneration report in the Directors‟ Report 
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group‟s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable; and 
(c) The Directors have been given the declarations required by s295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from 

the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2015. 
(2) The Directors draw attention to Note 1(a) to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a 

statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
Dated this 13th day of August 2015 
 
 

 
 
David Flanagan 
Managing Director 
Perth, Western Australia 
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm 
of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme 
approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001    

To: the directors of Atlas Iron Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2015 there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 

 
 

KPMG 

 

 

 
R Gambitta 
Partner 

Perth  

13 August 2015 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Atlas Iron Limited 

Report on the financial report 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Atlas Iron Limited (the company), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, and consolidated 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, Notes 1 to 34 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and 
the directors’ declaration of the Group comprising the company and the entities it controlled at 
the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report  

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement whether 
due to fraud or error. In Note 1(a), the directors also state, in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial 
statements of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing 
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report.  
We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report 
presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting 
Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s 
financial position and of its performance.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  
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ABCD 

Auditor’s opinion 
In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:   
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and 

of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 

2001. 
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

disclosed in note 1(a).  

Emphasis of Matter 

Without modifying our opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the director’s assessment 
of going concern in Note 1(a) of the financial statements. The Company’s cash flow forecasts 
which underpin the going concern basis of preparation of the financial report are based on, and 
are sensitive to, a number of material and inherently uncertain assumptions in particular future 
AUD iron ore prices. Depending on the success of future funding alternatives, were the recent 
volatility experienced in the AUD iron ore price to continue and result in a sustained decline 
from forecast prices during the period to December 2017, there would be significant uncertainty 
in the Company’s ability to refinance or reschedule the Term Loan B at its maturity and hence 
its ability to continue as a going concern.  

Report on the remuneration report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 
30 June 2015. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation 
of the remuneration report in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted 
in accordance with auditing standards. 

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Atlas Iron Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015, 
complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 
 

 
KPMG 

 

 

 
R Gambitta  
Partner 

Perth 

13 August 2015 
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